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STATEMENTS REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The statements contained in this report amF0-K that are not purely historical are forwdwdking statements within the meaning of
applicable securities laws. Forward-looking statetménclude statements regarding our “expectatidasticipation,” “intentions,” “beliefs,”
or “strategies” regarding the future. Forward-laoakistatements relating to our future economic perémce, plans and objectives for future
operations, and projections of revenue and othanfiial items that are based on our beliefs asagedlssumptions made by and information
currently available to us. Actual results couldeatifmaterially from those currently anticipatedsagsult of a number of factors, including
those discussed in Item 1, “Business — Risk Factors




PART |

ltem 1. Business
Introduction
Our Company

We are the largest recreational boat dealtre United States. Through 66 retail location8latbama, Arizona, California, Colorado,
Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Minnesota, Nevada, Newey, North Carolina, Ohio, South Carolina, Teaas Utah, we sell new and used
recreational boats, including pleasure boats (sisckport boats, sport cruisers, sport yachts, aokty), ski boats, and fishing boats, with a
focus on premium brands in each segment. We alseked marine products, including enginesérai parts, and accessories. In addition,
we arrange related boat financing, insurance, atehded service contracts; provide repair and raaarce services; and offer boat and yacht
brokerage services.

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sag,Boston Whaler, Meridian, and Hatteras recreatiboats and yachts, all of which are
manufactured by Brunswick Corporation. Sales of Beunswick boats accounted for approximately 65%wofrevenue in fiscal 2003.
Brunswick is the worlds largest manufacturer of marine products and raamngines. We believe our sales represented irsgxtel 0% of al
Brunswick marine sales, including approximately 38Ris new Sea Ray boat sales, during our 20@&lffigear. Through operating
subsidiaries, we are a party to dealer agreemeathisBaunswick covering Sea Ray products and welaeexclusive dealer of Sea Ray boats
in our geographic markets.

Subsequent to the end of fiscal 2003, we wappointed the exclusive dealer for Italy-baseddtgiGroup for Ferretti Yachts and for
Pershing, Riva, Apreamare, Mochi Craft, Custom Lared CRN mega-yachts, yachts, and other recredtimats for the United States,
Canada, and the Bahamas, and we have the rigbttnie the exclusive dealer in Mexico and the CadhbAt the same time, we were
appointed the exclusive dealer for Bertram in timitédl States (excluding the Florida peninsula atha portions of New England), Cana
and the Bahamas, and we have the right to becomnexttiusive dealer in Mexico and certain aread®fQaribbean. We believe the brand:
are adding offer a migration for our existing cusés base or fill a void in our product offering amttordingly will not compete with or
cannibalize the business generated from our otfeenipent brands.

We commenced operations as a result of thelMb, 1998 acquisition of five previously indepentrecreational boat dealers. Since that
time, we have acquired 16 additional previoushejmehdent recreational boat dealers, two boat bagkeoperations, and a full-service yacht
repair operation. We capitalize on the experiemzksaiccess of the acquired companies in ordettéblesh a new national standard of
customer service and responsiveness in the higidyrfented retail boating industry. As a resultwf @nphasis on premium brand boats, our
average selling price for a new boat in fiscal 20@3 approximately $87,000 compared to the indwsterage selling price of approximately
$30,000. Our stores, which operated at least 12mspaveraged approximately $12 million in annaéés in fiscal 2003. We consider a store
to be one or more retail locations that are adjgoenperate as one entity. For the fiscal yeaedrSeptember 30, 2003, we had revenue of
approximately $608 million, operating income of eppmately $35 million, and net income of approxteig $20 million. Our same-store
sales increased an average of approximately 8%héolast five years, including a decline of 9%igtél 2001.

We adopt the best practices of our acquicedpanies as appropriate to enhance our abilityttach more customers, foster an overall
enjoyable boating experience, and offer boat marufars stable and professional retail distribuod a broad geographic presence. We
believe that our full range of services, no-hagglkes approach, prime retail locations, extensedities, strong management and team
members, and emphasis on customer service anthstitia before and after a boat sale are competatvantages that enable us to be more
responsive to the needs of existing and prospectigtomers.

The U.S. recreational boating industry gereetapproximately $30.3 billion in retail salescalendar 2002, including sales of new and
used boats; marine products, such as enginegrgadquipment, and accessories; and related expers] such as fuel, insurance, docking,
storage, and repairs. Retail sales of new




and used boats, engines, trailers, and accessadesinted for approximately $21.8 billion of thesées in 2002. The highly fragmented retail
boating industry generally consists of small desatbat operate in a single market and provide ngrdiegrees of merchandising, professional
management, and customer service. We believe thay small dealers are finding it increasingly diffli to make the managerial and capital
commitments necessary to achieve higher custoneicedevels and upgrade systems and facilitiegqsired by boat manufacturers and
demanded by customers. We also believe that maalgrddack an exit strategy for their owners. Whelve these factors contribute to our
opportunity.

Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as th®na leading recreational boat dealer. Key eletmeif our operating and growth strategy
include the following:

* emphasizing customer satisfaction and loyalty l@ating an overall enjoyable boating experiencerbegg with a negotiation-free
purchase process, superior service, and premiitiés;

« implementing the “best practices” of our acquiredlérs as appropriate throughout our dealerships;
« achieving efficiencies and synergies among ouratf®rs to enhance internal growth and profitahility
« emphasizing employee training and development;

* opening additional retail facilities in our exigiand new territories;

« offering additional products and services, inclgdihose involving higher profit margins;

* pursuing strategic acquisitions to capitalize upgfansignificant consolidation opportunities in thighly fragmented recreational boat
dealer industry by acquiring additional dealers geldted operations and improving their performaauee profitability through the
implementation of our operating strategi

« expanding our Internet retail operations and manget
 promoting national brand name recognition and tlaihdMax connection;
* operating with a decentralized approach to theaifmsral management of our dealerships; and

« utilizing technology throughout operations, whieleifitates the interchange of information and emlearcross-selling opportunities
throughout our compan

Development of the Company; Expansion of Business

MarineMax was founded in January 1998. Maviar itself, however, conducted no operations wth#l acquisition of five independent
recreational boat dealers on March 1, 1998. Weissdja sixth recreational boat dealer in April 19881ce our initial public offering in June
1998, we have acquired 15 additional recreationat dealers, two boat brokerage operations, ant-adrvice yacht repair operation. Each
of our acquired dealers is continuing its operationder the MarineMax name as a wholly owned opgraubsidiary of our company.

We continually attempt to expand our busir®sproviding a full range of services, offeringenxsive and high-quality product lines,
maintaining prime retail locations, pursuing therMaMax Value Price sales approach, and emphasikmpighest level of customer service
and customer satisfaction.

We also evaluate opportunities to expandopearations by acquiring recreational boat deateexpand our geographic scope; expanding
our product lines; opening new retail locationshivitour existing territories; and providing new guats and services for our customers.
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Acquisitions of additional recreational bdatlers represent an important strategy in ourtgoahhance our position as the nation’s
leading retailer of recreational boats. The follogvtable sets forth information regarding the @githat we have acquired and their
geographic regions.

Acquired Companies Acquisition Date Geographic Region

Bassett Boat Company of Flori March 199i Southeast Florid
Louis Del[Homme Marin March 199 Dallas and Houston, Tex
Gulfwind USA, Inc. March 199! West Central, Florid
Gulfwind South, Inc. March 199i Southwest Floridi
Harrison’s Boat Center, Inc. and Harrison’s Mar@enters of Arizona, Northern California an

Inc. March 199i Arizona
Stovall Marine, Inc. April 1998 Georgia
Cochrar's Marine, Inc. and C & N Marine Corporati July 199¢ Minnesota
Sea Ray of North Carolina, In July 199¢ North and South Carolir

Brevard Boat Compan
Sea Ray of Las Veg:
Treasure Cove Marina, Inc
Woods & Oviatt, Inc.
Boating World

Merit Marine, Inc.
Suburban Boatworks, Inc
Hansen Marine, Inc

Duce Marine, Inc.

Clark’s Landing, Inc. (selected New Jersey locatiand operations)

September 19¢
September 19¢
September 19¢
October 199
February 199
March 199!
April 1999
August 199
December 19¢

East Central Florid
Nevada

Northern Ohic
Southeast Florid
Dallas, Texa:
Southern New Jerse
Central New Jerse
Northeast Florid:
Utah

April 200C Northern New Jerse

Associated Marine Technologies, Ir January 20C Southeast Florid
Gulfwind Marine Partners, Inc April 2002 West Floride
Seaside Marine, Inc July 200: Southern Californii
Sundance Marine, Inc June 200 Colorado
Killinger Marine Center, Inc. and Killinger Marir@enter of Alabama, Northwest Florida an

Inc. September 20( Alabama
Emarine International, Inc. and Steven Myers, October 200 Southeast Florid

Apart from acquisitions, we have opened 18 retail locations in existing territories, excladithose opened on a temporary basis for a
specific purpose. We also monitor the performarfaauo retail locations and close retail locatiohattdo not meet our expectations. Based on
these factors, we have closed eight retail locatgince March 1998, excluding those opened on pdeary basis for a specific purpose.

As a part of our acquisition strategy, weyfrently engage in discussions with various reaveatiboat dealers regarding their potential
acquisition by us. In connection with these distrss we and each potential acquisition candidatba@nge confidential operational and
financial information, conduct due diligence ingesdr, and consider the structure, terms, and camditdf the potential acquisition. In certain
cases, the prospective acquisition candidate agiads discuss a potential acquisition with arlyeotparty for a specific period of time,
grants us an option to purchase the prospectivierdies a designated price during a specific tiameqd agrees to take other actions designed to
enhance the possibility of the acquisition, suchraparing audited financial information and cotivey its accounting system to the system
specified by us. Potential acquisition discussioeguently take place over a long period of timd avolve difficult business integration and
other issues, including in some cases, managemeo¢ssion and related matters. As a result of thedether factors, a number of potential
acquisitions that from time to time appear likedyoccur do not result in binding legal agreements@e not consummated.
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In addition to acquiring recreational boatlées and opening new retail locations, we alsorad product lines to expand our operations.
The following table sets forth various product 8rthat we have added to our existing locations:

Product Line Fiscal Year Geographic Regions
Boston Whale 1997 West Central Florida; Stuart, Florida; Dallas, T&
Hatteras Yachts 199¢ Florida (excluding the Florida panhandle) and distion

rights for products over 82 feet for North and $out
America, the Caribbean, and the Bahal

Boston Whale 199¢ Ohio

Boston Whale 200( North Palm Beach, Florid

MB Sports 2001 Northern California, Arizona, Nevada, Utah, and s

Sea Hun 2001 East Central Florida and Tex

Benningtor 200z Northern California, Nevada, and Ut

Meridian Yachts 200z Florida, Georgia, North and South Carolina, Nevedgr
Ohio, Minnesota, Texas, and Delaw

Tracker Marine 200z Minnesota, Georgia, and Of

Grady White 200z Houston, Texa

Hatteras Yacht 200z Texas

Boston Whale 200¢ North and South Carolir

Century 200¢ North and South Carolir

Ferretti Yachts, Pershing, Riva, Apreamare, ModtafC

Custom Line, and CRN 200¢ United States, Canada, and the Baha
Bertram 200¢ United States (excluding the Florida peninsula and

portions of New England), Canada, and the Baha

We also are expanding our used boat saleyacid brokerage services through an increased &sigphn these activities. In addition, we
are expanding our F&I activities by offering ourstemers the ability to finance new or used boatipases and to purchase extended service
contracts and arrange insurance coverage, inclumbagproperty, credit-life, accident, disabilignd casualty coverage. Finally, we are
placing increased emphasis on our parts and aggemsd maintenance and repair services, which weige at most of our locations and
through stand-alone service facilities, including full-service yacht repair facility in Southe&dorida.

We maintain our executive offices at 1816%..9 North, Suite 499, Clearwater, Florida 33@w our telephone number is (727) 531-
1700. We were incorporated in the state of Delawadanuary 1998. Unless the context otherwiseiresjuall references to “MarineMax”
mean MarineMayx, Inc. prior to its acquisition ofdipreviously independent recreational boat deatekéarch 1998 (including their related
real estate companies) and all references to tbenfany,” “our company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” meaas a combined company,
MarineMax, Inc. and the 21 recreational boat dsakevo boat brokerage operations, and one fulliseryacht repair operation acquired to
date (the “acquired dealers,” and together withbitekerage and repair operations, “operating sidr$és” or the “acquired companies”).

Our website is located atvw.MarineMax.com Through our website, we make available free afrgh our annual report on Form 10-K,
our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our currenbrepon Form 8-K, our proxy statements, and anyralments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) ofSkeurities Exchange Act of 1934. These reportsieaéable as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file those repavith the Securities and Exchange Commissionale post on our website
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the charters of our Audit, Compensation, and Nokmga Corporate Governance Committees; our CorpoGaivernance Guidelines, Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics, and Code of EthicshtoCEO and Senior Financial Officers, and anyratments or waivers thereto; and any
other corporate governance materials contemplatesB¢ or NYSE regulations. These documents areaalaitable in print to any
stockholder requesting a copy from our corporateetary at our principal executive offices.

BUSINESS
General

We are the largest recreational boat dealtre United States. Through 66 retail location8latbama, Arizona, California, Colorado,
Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Minnesota, Nevada, Newey, North Carolina, Ohio, South Carolina, Teaas Utah, we sell new and used
recreational boats, including pleasure boats (sisckport boats, sport cruisers, sport yachts, aolty) ski boats, and fishing boats, with a
focus on premium brands in each segment. We alseled marine products, including enginesérai parts, and accessories. In addition,
we arrange related boat and yacht financing, imaigaand extended service contracts; provide ra@paimaintenance services; and offer boat
and yacht brokerage services.

We are the natiosi'largest retailer of Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, Manidand Hatteras recreational boats and yachiss &new Sea Ra
Boston Whaler, Meridian, and Hatteras recreatitoalts and yachts, each of which is manufactureBrbyswick Corporation (Brunswick),
accounted for approximately 65% of our revenuadodl 2003. Brunswick is the world’s largest marmtfiger of marine products and marine
engines. We believe our sales represented in entd$¥96 of all Brunswick marine sales during ouf30@iscal year. Each of our principal
operating subsidiaries is a party to a dealer agee¢ with Brunswick covering Sea Ray products anitié exclusive dealer of Sea Ray boats
in its geographic market. We also have the rigtgeibHatteras Yachts throughout the state of Bbo(excluding the Florida panhandle) and
the state of Texas, as well as the distributiohtedor Hatteras products over 82 feet for Nortth South America, the Caribbean, and the
Bahamas. In August 2002, we were awarded the Maridiacht distribution rights to most of our geodnapmarkets, excluding Arizona,
California, Colorado, Nevada, and Utah. Subseqteetite end of fiscal 2003, we were appointed thetusive dealer for Italy-based Ferretti
Group for Ferretti Yachts and for Pershing, Rivarédamare, Mochi Craft, Custom Line, and CRN megahigm yachts, and other recreational
boats for the United States, Canada, and the Bahyaand we have the right to become the exclusiaéedén Mexico and the Caribbean. At
the same time, we were also appointed the exclagaéer for Bertram in the United States (excludhmgFlorida peninsula and certain
portions of New England), Canada, and the Bahaarasywe have the right to become the exclusive d@alMexico and certain areas of the
Caribbean. We believe the brands we are adding affieigration for our existing customer base drafivoid in our product offering and
accordingly will not compete with or cannibalize thusiness generated from our other prominent krand

U.S. Recreational Boating Industry

The total U.S. recreational boating industeyerated approximately $30.3 billion in retailesaih calendar 2002, including retail sales of
new and used recreational boats; marine produats, &s engines, trailers, parts, and accessoridsgtated boating expenditures, such as
fuel, insurance, docking, storage, and repairsb@lieve that retail sales of new boats, enginegets, and accessories accounted for
approximately $13.6 billion of such sales in 20R2tail recreational boating sales were $17.9 hilllothe late 1980s, but declined to a lov
$10.3 billion in 1992. We believe this decline danattributed to several factors, including a reies the Gulf War, and the imposition
throughout 1991 and 1992 of a luxury tax on boald at prices in excess of $100,000. The luxurywtas repealed in 1993 and, with the
exception of 1998, retail recreational boating Sélave increased every year since.

The recreational boat retail market remaigslly fragmented with little consolidation havingaurred to date and consists of numerous
boat retailers, most of which are small companigsea by individuals that operate in a single mad¢at provide varying degrees of
merchandising, professional management, and




customer service. We believe that many boat retailee encountering increased pressure from boatfiaeturers to improve their levels of
service and systems, increased competition frogeftanational retailers in certain product linesj,an certain cases, business succession
issues.

Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as th®n'g leading recreational boat dealer. Key elerme our strategy include the following:

Emphasizing Customer Satisfaction and LoyaMg. seek to achieve a high level of customer satisia and establish long-term
customer loyalty by creating an overall enjoyalidating experience beginning with a negotiation-fseechase process. We further
enhance and simplify the purchase process by Igetpiarrange financing and insurance at our rigedtions with competitive terms and
streamlined turnaround. We offer the customer gothgh in-water orientation of boat operations wherailable, as well as ongoing boat
safety, maintenance, and use seminars and dentomssréor the customes’entire family. We also continue our customer iserafter th
sale by leading and sponsoring MarineMaatawaysigroup boating trips to various destinations, rendag gatherings, and on-tmeter
organized events to provide our customers withgsranged opportunities to enjoy the pleasuresebtiating lifestyle. We also endea
to provide superior maintenance and repair seryvimgsn through mobile service at the customer'sslip and with extended service
department hours and emergency service availaltigt minimize the hassles of boat maintena

Implementing Best Practicéd/e implement the “best practicesf our acquired dealers as appropriate througheutealerships. A
an example, we have implemented the no-haggle apf@®ach at each of our dealerships. Under thénkldiax Value-Price approach,
we sell our boats at posted prices, generally sgmting a discount from the manufacturer’'s suggestail price, thereby eliminating the
anxieties of price negotiations that occur in musdt purchases. In addition, we adopt, where beiagfthe best practices of our acquired
dealers in terms of location, design, layout, paigwrchases, maintenance and repair servicesifiimg extended service hours and
mobile or dockside services), product mix, emplolyeming, and customer education and servi

Achieving Operating Efficiencies and Synergi&e strive to increase the operating efficienciearaf achieve certain synergies
among our dealerships in order to enhance intgmaaith and profitability. We centralize various asfs of certain administrative
functions at the corporate level, such as accognfinance, insurance coverage, employee bensfasketing, strategic planning, legal
support, purchasing and distribution, and managém&érmation systems. Centralization of these fiors reduces duplicative expenses
and permits the dealerships to benefit from a lefiskale and expertise that would otherwise bevaitable to each dealership
individually. We also seek to realize cost savifigsm reduced inventory carrying costs as a redypuochasing boat inventories on a
national level and directing boats to dealershgatimns that can more readily sell such boats; tdimancing costs through our credit
facilities; and volume purchase discounts and e=bfr certain marine products, supplies, and ddiry. The ability of our retail
locations to offer the complementary services afather retail locations, such as offering customeaursion opportunities, providing
maintenance and repair services at the customeaslbcation, and giving access to a larger inwgntacreases the competitiveness of
each retalil location. By centralizing these typkaativities, our store managers have more timedtas on the customer and the
development of their team

Emphasizing Employee Training and DevelopmEatpromote continued internal growth, we devotestanitial efforts to train our
employees to understand our core retail philosgphitich focus on making the purchase of a boaitarslibsequent use as hassle-free
and enjoyable as possible. Through our MarineMaivéfgity, or MMU, we teach our retail philosophiesexisting and new employees
at various locations and online, through MMU-onliMMU is a modularized and instructor-led educagigorogram that focuses on our
retailing philosophies and provides instructionsogch matters as the sales process, customer sdrditeccounting, leadership, and
human resource




Opening New Facilities/Ve intend to continue to establish additional tdtailities in our existing and new territories.efelieve
that the demographics of our existing geographittéeies support the opening of additional fa@#, and we have opened 13 new retail
facilities, excluding those opened on a temporasidfor a specific purpose, since our formatiodanuary 1998. We also plan to reach
new customers by expanding various innovative Irigainats developed by us, such as mall storedlaating retail facilities. Our mall
store concept is unique to the boating industryiamtisigned to draw mall traffic, thereby proviglexposure to boating for the non-
boating public as well as displaying our new prddfterings to boating enthusiasts. Floating reftadilities place the sales facility, witt
customer reception area and sales offices, ondraaad to a dock in a marina and use adjacentdlipatto display our new and used
boats in areas of high boating activity. We corglhumonitor the performance of our retail locasamnd close retail locations that do not
meet our expectations or that were opened for eifgppurpose that is no longer relevant. Since &hat998, we have closed eight retail
locations, excluding those opened on a temporasislfar a specific purpos

Offering Additional Products and Services, Inclglifhose Involving Higher Profit Marging/e plan to continue to offer additional
product lines and services throughout our dealpssbii, when appropriate, in selected dealershifgsai offering throughout our
dealerships product lines that previously have loéfsred only at certain of our locations. We atsay obtain additional product lines
through the acquisition of distribution rights ditly from manufacturers and the acquisition of destlips with distribution rights. We
have increased our used boat sales and yacht bgekeervices through an increased emphasis onahtgities, cooperative efforts
among our dealerships, and the use of the IntéWietalso plan to continue to grow our financing arairance, parts and accessories,
and service businesses to better serve our cussandrthereby increase revenue and improve proifiyadf these higher margin
businesse:

Pursuing Strategic Acquisitiong/e capitalize upon the significant consolidatiopoytunities available in the highly fragmented
recreational boat dealer industry by acquiring petelent dealers and improving their performancepaofitability through the
implementation of our operating strategies. Thenpriy acquisition focus is on well-established, héygid recreational boat dealers in
geographic markets not currently served by usjqaatly geographic markets with strong boating dgnaphics, such as areas within the
coastal states and the Great Lakes region. Wenraedgoseek to acquire boat dealers that, while lociatattractive geographic markets,
have not been able to realize favorable markeestiaprofitability and that can benefit substahtifilom our systems and operating
strategies. We may expand our range of producs liservice offerings, and market penetration byistgy companies that distribute
recreational boat product lines or boating-relaedices different from those we currently offes @result of the considerable industry
experience and relationships of our management, te@nbelieve we are well positioned to identify @awhluate acquisition candidates
and assess their growth prospects, the qualityedf tnanagement teams, their local reputation witomers, and the suitability of their
locations. We believe we are regarded as an attesatquiror by boat dealers because of (1) thefiésl performance and the experie
and reputation of our management team within thestry; (2) our decentralized operating stratedyictvgenerally enables the manag
of an acquired dealer to continue their involvemiemtealership operations; (3) the ability of magragnt and employees of an acquired
dealer to participate in our growth and expansiwaugh potential stock ownership and career advaanéopportunities; and (4) the
ability to offer liquidity to the owners of acqud@ealers through the receipt of common stock sh.cBrunswick has agreed to cooperate
in good faith with us and not to unreasonably watldhts consent to the acquisition by us each pé&ea Ray boat dealers with aggre
total revenue not exceeding 20% of our revenualirpaor fiscal year to the extent such Sea Rayetleaesire to be acquired by us and
subject to the maximum purchase restrictions ahdurdescribed i“Business— Brunswick Agreement Relating to Acquisitio”

Utilization of the InternetOur web initiative www.MarineMax.com provides customers with the ability to learn mabeut our
company and our products. Our website generatestdiales and provides our stores leads to potenstomers for new and used boats
and brokerage services. We also plan to expandlulity to offer financing and parts and accessoare our website
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Promoting Brand Name Recognition and the Marinel@axinectionWe are promoting our brand name recognition to take
advantage of our status as the nation’s only cmastast marine retailer. This strategy also recsmthat many existing and potential
customers who reside in Northern markets and vacébir substantial periods in Southern markets priifer to purchase and service
their boats from the same well-known company. Werr® this strategy as the “MarineMax Connectiohs’a result, our signage
emphasizes the MarineMax name at each of our totsatand we have increased our national advertisimgrious print and other med

Operating with Decentralized ManagemeMe maintain a generally decentralized approachamperational management of our
dealerships. The decentralized management apptaket advantage of the extensive experience of hogaaagers, enabling them to
implement policies and make decisions, includireyappropriate product mix, based on the needsedbttal market. Local management
authority also fosters responsive customer seicepromotes long-term community and customeriogighips. In addition, the
centralization of certain administrative functiatshe corporate level enhances the ability ofllat@nagers to focus their efforts on day-
to-day dealership operations and the custon

Utilizing Technology Throughout Operationde believe that our management information systenich currently is being utilized
by each operating subsidiary and was developedawember of years through cooperative efforts witommon vendor, enhances our
ability to integrate successfully the operationswf operating subsidiaries and future acquirededgal he system facilitates the
interchange of information and enhances crossagetipportunities throughout our company. The systaagrates each level of
operations on a company-wide basis, including msity, inventory, receivables, financial reportibggdgeting, and sales management.
The system also provides sales representativeganagpect and customer information that aids thetnaicking the status of their
contacts with prospects, automatically generatib@eup correspondence to such prospects, faabtétte availability of a particular boat
company-wide, locates boats needed to satisfytecplar customer request, and monitors the maimeaand service needs of
customers’ boats. Our representatives also utifisecomputer system to assist in arranging custdimeancing and insurance packages.
Our managers use a w-based tool to access essentially all financial@etational data from anywhere at any ti

Products and Services

We offer new and used recreational boatsralaed marine products, including engines, trajlparts, and accessories. While we sell a
broad range of new and used boats, we focus onipmebrand products. In addition, we assist in agiag related boat financing, insurance,
and extended service contracts; provide boat maniee and repair services; and offer boat brokesagéces.

New Boat Sale:

We primarily sell recreational boats, inchglipleasure boats (such as sport boats, sporecsusport yachts, and yachts) and fishing
boats. The principal products we offer are manufaet by Brunswick, the leading worldwide manufaetwf recreational boats, including
Sea Ray pleasure boats, Boston Whaler fishing pbesdian Yachts, and Hatteras Yachts. In fis€02 approximately 65% of our revenue
was derived from the sale of new boats manufactayeBrunswick. We believe that we represent in esagf 10% of all of Brunswick’s
marine product sales during that period. We alovsega-yachts, yachts, and other recreationalswanufactured by Bertram and the Italy-
based Ferretti Group, including Ferretti YachtgsRimg, Riva, Apreamare, Mochi Craft, Custom Liargd CRN. Certain of our dealerships
also sell luxury yachts, fishing boats, ski boats] pontoon boats provided by other manufactubarsng fiscal 2003, new boat sales
accounted for approximately 68% of our revenue.

We offer recreational boats in most markgnsents, but have a particular focus on premiumityualleasure boats and yachts as reflected
by our fiscal 2003 average new boat sales priappfoximately $87,000 compared with our estimateldistry average selling price of
approximately $30,000. Given our locations in sahthe more affluent, offshore boating areas inWinéed States and emphasis on high
levels of customer




service, we sell a relatively higher percentagkanafe recreational boats, such as yachts and sposers. We believe that the product lines
offer are among the highest quality within thespective market segments, with well-establishedieti@ame recognition and reputations for
quality, performance, and styling.

The following table is illustrative of thenge of new boats that we offer, but is not all irstve:

Number Manufacturer Suggested
Product Line and Trade Name of Models Overall Length Retail Price Range

Motor Yachts and Convertibles

Hatteras Motor Yacht 9 63 to 10C + $2,300,000 to $8,000,0+

Hatteras Convertible 9 50 to 9C 1,000,000 to 6,000,0+
Pleasure Boats

Sea Ray Yacht 6 50 to 6¢ 850,000 to 3,100,0(

Sea Ray Sport Yach 10 36 to 4¢ 320,000 to 950,0(

Sea Ray Sport Cruise 9 26 to 34 65,000 to 230,0(¢

Sea Ray Sport Boa 15 17 to 27 18,000 to 81,5C
Fishing Boats

Boston Whale 16 12’ to 2¢ 5,000 to 190,0C

Motor Yachts and Convertibleldatteras Yachts is one of the world’s premier ydmthilders. The Hatteras fleet is one of the most
extensive serving the luxury megayacht segmertiefarket, with configurations for cruising and gfishing. All Hatteras models include
state-of-the-art designs with live-aboard luxuriigeTmotor yacht series, ranging from 63 feet to dw#) feet, offers a flybridge with extensive
guest seating; covered aft deck, which may be fullgartially enclosed, providing the boater wittdiional living space; an elegant salon;
and multiple staterooms for accommodations. Theredibles are primarily fishing vessels, which aml equipped to meet the needs of €
the most serious tournament-class competitor. Rggom 50 feet to 90 feet, Hatteras convertib&tdre interiors that offer luxurious
salon/galley arrangements, multiple staterooms piitvette heads, and a cockpit that includes adraittackle center, fishbox, and freezer.

Pleasure BoatsSea Ray pleasure boats target both the luxurytenthmily recreational boating markets. Sea Raytsfahts and yachts
serve the luxury segment of the recreational bgatiarket and include top-of-the-line living accondations with a salon, a fully equipped
galley, and multiple staterooms. The sport yachtsyachts come in a variety of configurations, uidéhg aft cabin, bridge cockpit, and
express cruiser models, to suit each customert&phlar recreational boating style. Sea Ray spodt land sport cruiser models are designed
for performance and dependability to meet familyreational needs and include many of the featurdsasacommodations of Sea Ray’s sport
yacht and yacht models. All Sea Ray pleasure Heatare custom instrumentation that may includelantronics package; various hull, de
and cockpit designs that can include a swim platfdyow pulpit, and raised bridge; and various aties)isuch as swivel bucket helm seats,
lounge seats, sun pads, wet bars, built-in icetshasd refreshment centers. Most Sea Ray pleasats feature Mercury or MerCruiser
engines.

Fishing BoatsThe fishing boats we offer range from entry leveldels to advanced models designed for fishing aatgmsports in lakes,
bays, and off-shore waters, with cabins with limitiee-aboard capability. The fishing boats typigdéature livewells, in-deck fishboxes,
splash-well gates with rodholders, rigging statjaukpit coaming pads, and fresh and saltwatehd@sns.

Newly Offered ProductdVith the appointment of the Ferretti Group produets are offering mega-yachts, yachts, and otheeational
boats produced by Ferretti Yachts, Pershing, Riyseamare, Mochi Craft, Custom Line, CRN and Bentr&Ve will offer various product
models of mega-yachts, yachts and recreationakbvaaging in size from 33 feet to over 200 fedemgth. These newly offered products are
known for exceptional quality, design, and innowatand are considered premium products in eackecdsp segment, with manufacturer’s
suggested retail prices ranging from $400,000 teenttzan $15.0 million.
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Used Boat Sale

We sell used versions of the new makes amdetaave offer and, to a lesser extent, used bdaigher makes and models generally taken
as tradans. During fiscal 2003, used boat sales accoufttedpproximately 17% of our revenue, and approxaiyas 7% of the used boats '
sold were Brunswick models.

Our used boat sales depend on our abiligptoce a supply of high-quality used boats at@itra prices. We acquire substantially all of
our used boats through customer trade-ins. Wedntieimcrease our used boat business as a reghk afcreased availability of quality used
boats generated from our acquisition of used hiaadsir expanding sales efforts, the increasing rmmolb used boats that are well-maintained
through our service initiatives, our ability to rkat used boats throughout our combined dealerstipark to match used boat demand, and
the experience of our yacht brokerage operatiodslit®nally, substantially all of our used boatémiory is posted on our web site,
www.MarineMax.com which expands the awareness and availabilityuofpooducts to a large audience of boating entistsia

At most of our retail locations, we offer tBea Ray LegaciM warranty plan available for used Sea Ray boatsthesssix years old. The
Legacy plan applies to each qualifying used Seali®ay, which has passed a 48-point inspectionpaodes protection against failure of
most mechanical parts for up to three years. Wiewethat the Sea Ray Legacy warranty plan, whiamnly available for used Sea Ray boats
purchased from a Sea Ray dealer, enhances ourdalsed Sea Ray boats by motivating purchasensed Sea Ray boats to purchase only
from a Sea Ray dealer and motivating sellers offSgaboats to sell through a Sea Ray dealer.

Marine Engines, Related Marine Equipment and BoatjrAccessorie

We offer marine engines and propellers, suttilly all of which are manufactured by Mercunaihe, a division of Brunswick. We sell
marine engines and propellers primarily to retagtomers as replacements for their existing engingsopellers. Mercury Marine has
introduced various new engine models that redugseremissions to comply with current EnvironmeReadtection Agency requirements.
See “Business — Environmental and Other Reguldssyes.” An industry leader for almost six decadiés,cury Marine specializes in state-
of-the-art marine propulsion systems and accessdvlany of our operating subsidiaries have beeogrized by Mercury Marine as
“Platinum Dealers.” This designation is generallyaaded based on meeting certain standards andigatidins.

We also sell related marine parts and accessani@ading oils, lubricants, steering and contradtgyns, corrosion control products, eng
care and service products (primarily Mercury Masn@uicksilver line); high-performance accessofmsch as propellers) and instruments;
and a complete line of boating accessories, inofytife jackets, inflatables, and wakeboards. Ve alffer novelty items, such as shirts, c:
and floormats bearing the manufacturer’s or deslego.

The sale of marine engines, related maringpatent, and boating accessories accounted fooappately 3.1% of our fiscal 2003
revenue.

Maintenance and Repair Service

Providing customers with professional, promgintenance and repair services is critical tosales efforts and contributes to our
profitability. We provide maintenance and repaivams at most of our retail locations, with exteddervice hours at certain of our locatic
In addition, in many of our markets, we provide rif®naintenance and repair services at the locatighe customer’s boat. We believe that
this service commitment is a competitive advaniaghe markets in which we compete and is critioadur efforts to provide a trouble-free
boating experience. To further this commitmentgeéntain of our markets, we have opened stand-at@ietenance and repair facilities in
locations that are more convenient for our custemaed that increase the availability of such sesidVe also believe that our maintenance
and repair services contribute to strong custometionships and that our emphasis on preventatiaiatenance and quality service increases
the potential supply of well-maintained boats far ased boat sales.
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We perform both warranty and non-warrantyaiepervices, with the cost of warranty work reimgmd by the manufacturer in accordance
with the manufacturer’'s warranty reimbursement paiog For warranty work, Brunswick reimburses a patage of the dealer’s posted
service labor rates, with the percentage varyimgedding on the dealer’s customer satisfaction indérg and attendance at service training
courses. We derive the majority of our warrantyeraxe from Brunswick products, as Brunswick prodaotsprise the majority of products
sold. Certain other manufacturers reimburse wayrantk at a fixed amount per repair. Because baatufacturers permit warranty work to
be performed only at authorized dealerships, weivecsubstantially all of the warranted maintenagoa repair work required for the new
boats we sell. The third-party extended warrantytra@ts we offer also result in an ongoing demamaérr maintenance and repair services
for the duration of the term of the extended wasraontract.

Our maintenance and repair services are peei by manufacturer-trained and certified sertéohnicians. In charging for our
mechanics’ labor, many of our dealerships use mbigrrate structure designed to reflect the difficand sophistication of different types of
repairs. The percentage markups on parts are siyrilased on market conditions for different parts.

Maintenance and repair services accounteddproximately 5.5% of our revenue during fiscad20This includes warranty and non-
warranty services.

F&I Products

At each of our retail locations, we offer @muistomers the ability to finance new or used poathases and to purchase extended service
contracts and arrange insurance coverage, inclushagproperty, credit life, and accident, disépiland casualty insurance coverage
(collectively, “F&I").

We have relationships with various nationakime product lenders under which the lenders @msehetail installment contracts
evidencing retail sales of boats and other marindyts that are originated by us in accordanck @iisting pre-sale agreements between us
and the lenders. These arrangements permit useo/esa portion of the finance charges expectdmbtearned on the retail installment
contract based on a variety of factors, includimg dredit standing of the buyer, the annual peaggntate of the contract charged to the bt
and the lender’s then current minimum required ahparcentage rate charged to the buyer on theaminThis participation is subject to
repayment by us if the buyer prepays the contradetaults within a designated time period, usu@yto 180 days. To the extent required by
applicable state law, our dealerships are liceta@diginate and sell retail installment contrdosncing the sale of boats and other marine
products.

We also offer extended service contracts undhéch, for a predetermined price, we providedaisignated services pursuant to the service
contract guidelines during the contract term aadditional charge above a deductible. While wealkhew boats with the boat
manufacturer’s standard hull warranty of generfllg years and standard engine warranty of geneoaié year, extended service contracts
provide additional coverage beyond the time framscope of the manufacturer’s warranty. Purchaseused boats generally are able to
purchase an extended service contract, even fdlseted boat is no longer covered by the manutatsuvarranty. Generally, we receive a
fee for arranging an extended service contract.tivezgiired services under the contracts are pravigeus and paid for by the third-party
contract holder.

We also are able to assist our customerstivittopportunity to purchase credit life insurarexgident and disability insurance, and
property and casualty insurance. Credit life inaueapolicies provide for repayment of the boatriitiag contract if the purchaser dies while
the contract is outstanding. Accident and disahifisurance policies provide for payment of the thncontract obligation during any peri
in which the buyer is disabled. Property and cdguasurance covers loss or damage to the boatdd\fet act as an insurance broker or €
or issue insurance policies on behalf of insuhafs, however, provide marketing activities and ottedsted services to insurance companies
and brokers for which we receive marketing feese Ghour strategies is to generate increased magkites by offering more competitive
insurance products.

During fiscal 2003, fee income generated fiefh products accounted for approximately 3.8% of revenue. We believe that our
customers’ ability to obtain competitive financiggickly and easily at our
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dealerships complements our ability to sell new aset boats. We also believe our ability to prowidstomer-tailored financing on a “same-
day” basis gives us an advantage over many of aupetitors, particularly smaller competitors treatld the resources to arrange boat
financing at their dealerships or that do not gateesufficient volume to attract the diversity imfaincing sources that are available to us.

Brokerage Service

Through employees or subcontractors thalie@ased boat or yacht brokers, we offer boat @hy&rokerage services at most of our retail
locations. For a commission, we offer for sale lerekl boats or yachts, listing them on the “BUCtegs and advising our other retail
locations of their availability through our intetgd computer system and posting them on our webmitw.MarineMax.com The BUC
system, which is similar to a real estate multligtng service, is a national boat or yacht ligtservice of approximately 900 brokers
maintained by BUC International. Often sales ardakered, with the commission split between thgifigy and selling brokers. We believe
that our access to potential used boat customersn@thods of listing and advertising customerskbred boats or yachts is more extensive
than is typical among brokers. In addition to gatiag revenue from brokerage commissions, our legeservices also enable us to offer a
broad array of used boats or yachts without inénga®lated inventory costs. During fiscal 2003)kmrage services accounted for
approximately 1.0% of our revenue.

Our brokerage customers generally receivesdinee high level of customer service as our newuaed boat customers. Our waterfront
retail locations enable in-water demonstrationarobn-site brokered boat. Our maintenance andrrseaiices, including mobile service, also
is generally available to our brokerage custonieng. purchaser of a Sea Ray boat brokered througlsascan take advantage of MarineMax
GetawaysWweekend and day trips and other rendezvous gatseaind in-water events, as well as boat operatidrsafety seminars. We
believe that the array of services we offer arguaiin the brokerage business.

Retail Locations

We sell our recreational boats and other megproducts and offer our related boat servicesutyir 66 retail locations in Alabama,
Arizona, California, Colorado, Delaware, Floridege@gia, Minnesota, Nevada, New Jersey, North GaaplDhio, South Carolina, Texas, and
Utah. Each retail location generally includes aoiwr showroom (including some of the industry’gst indoor boat showrooms) and an
outside area for displaying boat inventories, armss office to assist customers in arranging fimenand insurance, and maintenance and
repair facilities.

Many of our retail locations are waterfronbjperties on some of the natisrhost popular boating locations, including thet®&asin an
Mission Bay in California; multiple locations oretiintracoastal Waterway, the Atlantic Ocean, BiseaBay, Naples Bay (next to the Gulf of
Mexico), Tampa Bay, and the Caloosahatchee RivEldrida; Lake Lanier and Lake Altoona in Geordiapch Lake and the St. Croix River
in Minnesota; Barnegat Bay, the Delaware RiverHoeson River, Lake Hopatcong, Little Egg Harbaw] ghe Manasquan River in New
Jersey; Lake Erie in Ohio; and Clear Lake, Laker@anand Lake Lewisville in Texas. Our waterfroetiail locations, most of which include
marina-type facilities and docks at which we digpmar boats, are easily accessible to the boatipylace, serve as in-water showrooms, and
enable the sales force to give the customer imneediawater demonstrations of various boat moddisst of our other locations are in close
proximity to water.

We plan to reach new customers by expandimgew locations through various innovative retaihfiats, such as mall stores and floating
retail facilities. Our mall store concept is unigoehe boating industry and is designed to draw tredfic, thereby providing exposure to
boating to the non-boating public as well as digiplg our new product offerings to boating enthusiaBloating retail facilities place the sales
facility, with a customer reception area and saféises, on or anchored to a dock in a marina eseladjacent boat slips to display new and
used boats in areas of high boating activity.
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Operations

Dealership Operations and Manageme

We have adopted a generally decentralizedoaph to the operational management of our deagexstWhile certain administrative
functions are centralized at the corporate leweial management is primarily responsible for theg-tdaday operations of the retail locations.
Each retail location is managed by a store managey,oversees the day-to-day operations, persoanélfinancial performance of the
individual store, subject to the direction of atdtd manager, who generally has responsibilitytfa retail locations within a specified
geographic region. Typically, each retail locatédso has a staff consisting of a sales managdt&amanager, a parts and service manager,
sales representatives, maintenance and repairitéis) and various support personnel.

We attempt to attract and retain quality esgpes at our retail locations by providing themtwvahgoing training to enhance sales
professionalism and product knowledge, career ashrapnt opportunities within a larger company, awbfable benefit packages. We
maintain a formal training program, called MarineManiversity or “MMU,” which provides training foemployees in all aspects of our
operations. Training sessions are held at our waniegional locations covering a variety of topM&4U-online offers various modules over
the Internet. Highly trained, professional salggesentatives are an important factor to our sisfaksales efforts. These sales represente
are trained at MMU to recognize the importanceostdring an enjoyable sales process, to educatencess on the operation and use of the
boats, and to assist customers in making techait@dldesign decisions in boat purchases. The ofecals of MMU is to teach our core
retailing values, which focus on customer service.

Sales representatives receive compensatioraply on a commission basis. Each store managarsalaried employee with incentive
bonuses based on the performance of the managktateéa. Maintenance and repair service managegvwe compensation on a salary bi
with bonuses based on the performance of theirrttepats. Our management information system provideh store and department
manager with daily financial and operational infatian, enabling them to monitor their performanoeaadaily, weekly, and monthly basis.
We have a uniform, fully integrated managementrimi@tion system serving each of our dealerships.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales philosophy focuses on selling thasures of the boating lifestyle. We believe thatcritical elements of our sales philosophy
include our appealing retail locations, our no-Haggles approach, highly trained sales represeegahigh level of customer service,
emphasis on educating the customer and the custfasiily on boat usage, and providing our custaweith opportunities for boating. We
strive to provide superior customer service angstbefore, during, and after the sale.

Each retail location offers the customerdpportunity to evaluate a large variety of new asdd boats in a comfortable and convenient
setting. Our full-service retail locations facitiéea turn-key purchasing process that includeadive lender financing packages, extended
service agreements, and insurance. Many of ouit letations are located on waterfronts and marimdsch attract boating enthusiasts and
enable customers to operate various boats prioraking a purchase decision.

We sell our boats at posted value pricesghatrally represent a discount from the manufacsisuggested retail price. Our sales
approach focuses on customer service by minimieirgjomer anxiety associated with price negotiation.

As a part of our sales and marketing effores also participate in boat shows and in-the-wsddgs events at area boating locations,
typically held in January and February, in eacbwfmarkets and in certain locations in close priti to our markets. These shows and
events are normally held at convention centersamimas, with area dealers renting space. Boat shod®ther offsite promotions are an
important venue for generating sales orders. Tla¢ fltows also generate a significant amount oféstén our products resulting in boat s
after the show.
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We emphasize customer education through orene education by our sales representatives asdnee locations, our delivery captains,
before and after a sale, and through in-house semifor the entire family on boat safety, the usa @peration of boats, and product
demonstrations. Typically, one of our delivery eaps$ or the sales representative delivers the oweste boat to an area boating location and
thoroughly instructs the customer about the opemati the boat, including hands-on instructionsdocking and trailering the boat. To
enhance our customer relationships after the sedead and sponsor MarineM&etawaysigroup boating trips to various destinations,
rendezvous gatherings, and on-the-water organizedt® that promote the pleasures of the boatiegtlife. Each company-sponsored event,
planned and led by a company employee, also preadavorable medium for acclimating new custoni@tsoating and enables us to
promote actively new product offerings to boatimgheisiasts.

As a result of our relative size, we beligehave a competitive advantage within the indusyripeing able to conduct an organized and
systematic advertising and marketing effort. Paduw marketing effort includes an integrated pexdpmanagement system that tracks the
status of each sales representative’s contactsayptiospect, automatically generates follow-upaspondence, facilitates company-wide
availability of a particular boat or other marin@guct desired by a customer, and tracks the mantze and service needs for the customer’s
boat.

Suppliers and Inventory Manageme!

We purchase substantially all of our new bioagntory directly from manufacturers, which abide new boats to dealerships based on the
amount of boats sold by the dealership. We alsbaxge new boats with other dealers to accommodaterner demand and to balance
inventory.

We purchase new boats and other marine-tefateducts from Brunswick, which is the world’sgast manufacturer of marine products,
including Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, Baja, Hatterad, Meridian. We also purchase new boats and otleinmrelated products from other
manufacturers, including Bennington, Bertram, Centlerretti, Grady White, MB Sports, Sea Hunt, 8ea, and Tracker Marine. In fiscal
2003, sales of new Brunswick boats accounted fé6 65our revenue. We believe our Sea Ray boat piseshrepresented approximately .
of Sea Ray boat sales and in excess of 10% ofrafidvick marine product sales during fiscal 2008.dther manufacturer accounted for a
significant portion of our net purchases in fis2@03.

Through operating subsidiaries, we have edterto agreements with Brunswick covering Sea [itagucts. The dealer agreements with
the Sea Ray division of Brunswick do not restrigt dght to sell any Sea Ray product lines or cotimgeproducts. The terms of the mujgai
dealer agreements appoint us as the non-exclusalerdfor the retail sale, display, and servicihdesignated Sea Ray products and repair
parts currently or in the future sold by Sea Rathindesignated geographic areas.

The dealer agreement with Ferretti GroupBedram does not restrict our right to sell anyrétr Group and Bertram product lines but
has certain restrictions relating to competing pitsl. The three-year dealer agreement appoints tieaxclusive dealer for the retail sale,
display, and servicing of designated Ferretti Grang Bertram products and repair parts currentin ¢ie future sold by Ferretti Group and
Bertram in the designated geographic areas, asedetherein.

Arrangements with certain other manufactuneay restrict our right to offer some product limegertain markets.

We typically deal with each of our manufaetsg; other than the Sea Ray division of Brunswiekyetti Group, and Bertram, under an
annually renewable, non-exclusive dealer agreendamufacturers generally establish prices on amakipasis, but may change prices in
their sole discretion. Manufacturers typically disat the cost of inventory and offer inventory figang assistance during the manufacturers’
slow seasons, generally October through March.Baio lower cost of inventory, we strive to capitalon these manufacturer incentives to
take product delivery during the manufacturersissteasons. This permits us to gain pricing advastagd better product availability during
the selling season.
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We transfer individual boats among our rdt@htions to fill customer orders that otherwisigim take substantially longer to fill from the
manufacturer. This reduces delays in delivery, ©i@pmaximize inventory turnover, and assists imimmzing potential overstock or out-of-
stock situations. We actively monitor our inventteyels to maintain levels appropriate to meetenirmarket demands. We are not bound by
contractual agreements governing the amount ohitovg that we must purchase in any year from angufecturer, but the failure to
purchase at agreed upon levels may result in ggedbcertain manufacturer incentives. We partieiji|a numerous end-of-summer
manufacturer boat shows, which manufacturers spdosell off their remaining inventory at reducasts before the introduction of new
model year products, typically beginning in July.

Inventory Financing

Marine manufacturers customarily provide iegt assistance programs to retailers. The intagssstance varies by manufacturer and may
include periods of free financing or reduced ingeérate programs. The interest assistance mayibelpactly to the retailer or the financial
institution depending on the arrangements the nauifer has established. We believe that our fimgnarrangements with manufacturers
are standard within the industry.

In March 2003, the Emerging Issues Task FEEEEF) of the Financial Accounting Standards Bo@f4SB) revised certain provisions of
its previously reached conclusions on EITF 02-2&counting by a Customer (Including a Reseller)Gartain Consideration Received from
a Vendor” (EITF 02-16), and provided additionahs#ional guidance. EITF 026 does not provide for restatement or reclassifinaof prior
year amounts; rather it requires prospective agftio for new agreements or modifications of ergtagreements entered into subseque
December 31, 2002. We determined that EITF 02-Ifhots the way we account for interest assistargg@ued from vendors beginning after
July 1, 2003 with the renewal of and amendmentaitadealer agreements with the manufacturers opmducts. EITF 02-16 most
significantly requires us to classify interest atgice received from manufacturers as a reducfioventory cost and related cost of sales as
opposed to netting the assistance against ouesttexpense incurred with our lenders.

In December 2001, we entered into a revoleireglit facility that provides a line of credit Wiasset-based borrowing availability of up to
$220 million. The facility also allows us $20 milii in traditional floorplan borrowings. The fagilitwhich has a three-year term with two
one-year renewal options, replaced four sepanagedi credit facilities. During November 2002, weercised one of the two ongar renews
options, which the bank approved, extending theunitgtdate to December 2005. The facility accruderest at a rate of LIBOR plus 175 to
260 basis points, which is determined in accordavittea performance pricing grid, as defined in thedit facility. Borrowings under the
facility are pursuant to a borrowing base formuid are used primarily for working capital and intay financing. The terms and conditions
of the facility are similar to the terms and coratis of the prior separate line of credit facibtie

As of September 30, 2003, we owed an aggeegfaapproximately $97.0 million under our revolyicredit facility. As of September 30,
2003, our revolving credit facility provided us tvian additional available borrowing capacity of mpmately $72.9 million. Advances on
the facility accrued interest at a rate of 2.9%@&September 30, 2003.

Management Information Syster

We believe that our management informatisteay, which currently is being utilized by eacloaf operating subsidiaries and was
developed by certain of the acquired dealers ovemaber of years through cooperative efforts witbemmon vendor, enhances our ability to
integrate successfully the operations of our opegatubsidiaries and future acquisitions, faciéitathe interchange of information, and
enhances cross-selling opportunities throughoutouarpany. The system integrates each level of tipason a company-wide basis,
including purchasing, inventory, receivables, ficiahreporting and budgeting, and sales manageriigetsystem enables us to monitor each
dealership’s operations in order to identify qujclfeas requiring additional focus and to manageritory. The system also provides sales
representatives with prospect and customer infaomahat aids them in tracking the status of tleeintacts with prospects,
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automatically generates follow-up correspondencutih prospects, facilitates the availability qfaaticular boat compamyide, locates boa
needed to satisfy a particular customer requedtyramitors the maintenance and service needs troess’ boats. Company representatives
also utilize the system to assist in arrangingrfaiag and insurance packages.

Brunswick Agreement Relating to Acquisitions

We and Brunswick are parties to an agreemmentiding for Brunswick to cooperate in good fagthd not to unreasonably withhold its
consent to the acquisitions each year by us ofRagaboat dealers with aggregate total revenuexusezling 20% of our revenue in our prior
fiscal year. Any acquisitions in excess of the 2@8achmark will be at Brunswick’s discretion. In #aent that our purchases of Sea Ray
boats exceed 49% of the purchases of Sea Ray lipatsSea Ray boat dealers, including us, in @&gaf year of Brunswick, the agreement
provides that we and Brunswick will negotiate iroddaith the standards for acquisitions of Sea R#t dealers by us during Brunswick’s
next succeeding fiscal year but that Brunswick miant or withhold its consent to any such acqusith its sole discretion for as long as our
Sea Ray boat purchases exceed the 49% benchmark.

Dealer Agreements with Brunswick

Brunswick, through its Sea Ray division, avel through our principal operating subsidiaries, @arties to Sales and Service Agreements
relating to Sea Ray products. These dealer agrasrappoint one of our operating subsidiaries asraexclusive dealer for the retail sale,
display, and servicing of designated Sea Ray pitscared repair parts currently or in the future dnjdSea Ray. Each dealer agreement
designates a non-exclusive area of primary respiitgifor the dealer, which is a geographical airearoximity to the deales’ retail location
based on such areas that are customarily desighgt8da Ray and applicable to its domestic dediesh dealer agreement also specifies
retail locations, which the dealer may not closmnge, or add to without the prior written consirfea Ray, provided that Sea Ray may not
unreasonably withhold its consent. Upon at leasty@ar’s prior notice and the failure by the detdeture, Sea Ray may remove the dealer’s
right to operate any particular retail locatioth& dealer fails to meet its material obligatigmex,formance standards, or terms, conditions,
representations, warranties, and covenants apditalhat location. Each dealer agreement aldactssthe dealer from selling, advertising,
soliciting for sale, or offering for resale any S@ay products outside its area of primary respdlitgilvithout the prior written consent of Sea
Ray as long as similar restrictions also applyltd@mestic Sea Ray dealers selling comparableRagaproducts. Each dealer agreement
provides for the lowest product prices chargedneySea Ray division of Brunswick from time to titneother domestic Sea Ray dealers,
subject to the dealer meeting all the requiremantsconditions of Sea Ray’s applicable programsthadight of Brunswick in good faith to
charge lesser prices to other dealers to meeiraxisbmpetitive circumstances, for unusual and oahirary business circumstances, or for
limited duration promotional programs.

Each dealer agreement requires the dealer to
» promote, display, advertise, and sell Sea Ray taiagach of its retail locations in accordance whithagreement and applicable laws;

« purchase and maintain sufficient inventory of coti®ea Ray boats to meet the reasonable demangtoheers at each of its locations
and to meet the minimum inventory requirementsiagble to all Sea Ray deale

* maintain at each retail location, or at anotheeptable location, a service department to servi@eRay boats promptly and
professionally and to maintain parts and suppbeservice Sea Ray boats properly on a timely b

« perform all necessary installation and inspectienvises prior to delivery to purchasers and perfpost-sale services of all Sea Ray
products sold by the dealer or brought to the ddateservice;

« furnish purchasers with Sea Rayimited warranty on new products and with infotimia and training as to the sale and proper opmr
and maintenance of Sea Ray bo
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« assist Sea Ray in performing any product defectracall campaigns;
» maintain complete product sales and service regords

* achieve sales performance in accordance with fairraasonable sales levels established by SeaaRarconsultation with the dealer,
based on factors such as population, sales pdtdntial economic conditions, competition, pasesaiistory, number of retail locatior
and other special circumstances that may affecsdheof products or the dealer, in each case st@msiwith standards established fo
domestic Sea Ray dealers selling comparable prsx

« provide designated financial information;

« conduct its business in a manner that preservesrmahces the reputation of Sea Ray and the dealgroviding quality products and
services

» maintain the financial ability to purchase and n@imon hand required inventory levels;
« indemnify Sea Ray against any claims or lossedthegdrom the dealer’s failure to meet its obligats to Sea Ray;
* maintain customer service ratings sufficient tomein Sea Ray’s image in the marketplace; and

« achieve within designated time periods and thegeafiaintain master dealer status (which is SeaRaghest performance status) for
the locations designated by Sea Ray and the d

Each dealer agreement may be terminated

by Sea Ray if the dealer fails or refuses to plo@nimum stocking order of the next model yearsdoicts in accordance with
requirements applicable to all Sea Ray dealersrglyer fails to meet its financial obligations ey become due to Sea Ray or to the
deale’s lenders

* by Sea Ray or the dealer where good cause existsiding the material breach, default, or noncoamie with any material term,
provision, warranty, or obligation under the agreathand has not been cured within 60 days of pviitten notice of the claimed
deficiency or at the end of the-day period without the opportunity to cure where tuse constitutes bad fai

* by Sea Ray or the dealer in the event of the irgaly, bankruptcy, or receivership of the other;
« by Sea Ray in the event of the assignment of theeagent by the dealer without the prior written st of Sea Ray;

« by Sea Ray upon at least 10 days’ prior writtericedh the event of the failure to pay any sums alug owing to Sea Ray that are not
disputed in good faitt

* by Sea Ray if a majority of our Board of Directdges not consist of specified senior executives@ther Designated Members (as
defined in the Stockholde’ Agreement); o

« upon the mutual consent of the dealer and Sea Ray.

Employees

As of September 30, 2003, we had 1,279 ensgleyl,233 of whom were in store-level operations46 of whom were in corporate

administration and management. This includes 7@ #twel employees that were added in conjunction #ith2003 acquisitions of Sundau
Marine, Inc. and Killinger Marine Center, Inc. Wieaot a party to any collective bargaining agresimand are not aware of any efforts to
unionize our employees. We consider our relatioitls aur employees to be excellent.

Trademarks and Service Marks

We have registered trade names and trademattkshe U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for @asi names, including “MarineMax,”

“MarineMax Getaways,” “MarineMax Care,” “Deliverintpe Dream,” and “MarineMax Delivering the BoatiDgeam.” We have registered
the name “MarineMax” in the European
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Community. We have trademark applications pendiiig the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for “Newa€ioFinancial Services” and
“Women on Water.” We have trade name and trademjgpkications pending in Canada for various nanmediiding “MarineMax,”
“MarineMax Value-Price,” “Value-Price,” “Deliverinthe Dream,” “Selling and Delivering the Dream, eling the Dream,” and “The Water
Gene.” There can be no assurance that any of #pgdieations will be granted.

Seasonality and Weather Conditions

Our business, as well as the entire recnealtiboating industry, is highly seasonal. Overttiree-year period ended September 30, 2003,
the average revenues for the quarters ended Dec&thbklarch 31, June 30, and September 30 repexsdr®o, 26%, 32%, and 25%,
respectively, of our average annual revenues. Weéltexception of Florida, our geographic territemgenerally realize significantly lower
sales in the quarterly period ending December 3th, boat sales generally improving in January wlith onset of the public boat and
recreation shows.

Our business is also subject to weather ipettevhich may adversely affect our results of afiens. For example, drought conditions (or
merely reduced rainfall levels) or excessive raiay close area boating locations or render boa#mgerous or inconvenient, thereby
curtailing customer demand for our products. Initald, unseasonably cool weather and prolongederiodonditions may lead to a shorter
selling season in certain locations. Hurricanesathdr storms could result in disruptions of oueigions or damage to our boat inventories
and facilities. Although our geographic diversiylikely to reduce the overall impact to us of adeeweather conditions in any one market
area, these conditions will continue to represetgmtial, material adverse risks to us and ourréufinancial performance.

Environmental and Other Regulatory Issues

Our operations are subject to extensive regulatiopervision, and licensing under various fedestake, and local statutes, ordinances,
regulations. While we believe that we maintairredjuisite licenses and permits and are in compdiavith all applicable federal, state, and
local regulations, there can be no assurance thatilvbe able to maintain all requisite licensesl @ermits. The failure to satisfy those and
other regulatory requirements could have a matadaérse effect on our business, financial condlitamd results of operations. The adoption
of additional laws, rules, and regulations coukbdiave a material adverse effect on our busiMesus federal, state, and local regulatory
agencies, including the Occupational Safety andthldaministration, or OSHA, the United States Bovimental Protection Agency, or
EPA, and similar federal and local agencies, haxiediction over the operation of our dealershippair facilities, and other operations with
respect to matters such as consumer protectiorkengrsafety, and laws regarding protection oféhgironment, including air, water, and
soil.

The EPA has various air emissions regulatfonsutboard marine engines that impose moretsissions standards for two-cycle,
gasoline outboard marine engines. Emissions frarh sagines must be reduced by approximately 75%awine-year period beginning
with the 1998 model year. Costs of comparable negines, if materially more expensive than previengines, or the inability of our
manufacturers to comply with EPA requirements, dddve a material adverse effect on our busingemdial condition, and results of
operations.

Certain of our facilities own and operate englound storage tanks, or USTSs, for the storageadus petroleum products. The USTs are
generally subject to federal, state, and local land regulations that require testing and upgradiigSTs and remediation of contaminated
soils and groundwater resulting from leaking USMisaddition, if leakage from company-owned or opetldJSTs migrates onto the property
of others, we may be subject to civil liabilitytturd parties for remediation costs or other darsaBased on historical experience, we believe
that our liabilities associated with UST testinggtades, and remediation are unlikely to have @rigiadverse effect on our financial
condition or operating results.

As with boat dealerships generally, and pamt$ service operations in particular, our busim@aslves the use, handling, storage, and
contracting for recycling or disposal of hazardousoxic substances or wastes, including envirortaignsensitive materials, such as motor
oil, waste motor oil and filters, transmission @ui
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antifreeze, freon, waste paint and lacquer thinatteries, solvents, lubricants, degreasing aggat®oline, and diesel fuels. Accordingly, we
are subject to regulation by federal, state, andllauthorities establishing requirements for the, Imanagement, handling, and disposal of
these materials and health and environmental gusthindards, and liability related thereto, andrigiag penalties for violations of those
standards. We are also subject to laws, ordinaaoekstegulations governing investigation and reatéah of contamination at facilities we
operate to which we send hazardous or toxic subssaor wastes for treatment, recycling, or disposal

We do not believe we have any material emvirental liabilities or that compliance with envimantal laws, ordinances, and regulations
will, individually or in the aggregate, have a makadverse effect on our business, financial @i or results of operations. However, soil
and groundwater contamination has been known &t aekicertain properties owned or leased by ush&ve also been required and may in
the future be required to remove aboveground adeéngnound storage tanks containing hazardous sutestar wastes. As to certain of our
properties, specific releases of petroleum have beare in the process of being remedied in aecure with state and federal guidelines.
are monitoring the soil and groundwater as requinedpplicable state and federal guidelines. Intadd the shareholders of the acquired
dealers have indemnified us for specific environtakissues identified on environmental site assesssrperformed by us as part of the
acquisitions. We maintain insurance for pollutdetaup and removal. The coverage pays for the esgseio extract pollutants from land or
water at the insured property, if the dischargspelisal, seepage, migration, release, or escape pbllutants is caused by or results from a
covered cause of loss. We may also have additginedge tank liability insurance and “Superfundvemge where applicable. In addition,
certain of our retail locations are located on wa#y's that are subject to federal or state lawslegigpg navigable waters (including oil
pollution prevention), fish and wildlife, and othmatters.

Two of the properties we own were historigaled as gasoline service stations. Remedialragtith respect to prior historical site
activities on these properties has been completaddordance with federal and state law. Also,afreur properties is within the boundaries
of a “Superfund” site, although our property haseen and is not expected to be identified am#&iboitor to the contamination in the area.
We, however, do not believe that these environnégaes will result in any material liabilities ts.

Additionally, certain states have requirecm@ considering requiring a license in order terafe a recreational boat. While such licensing
requirements are not expected to be unduly resiategulations may discourage potential firsteibuyers, thereby limiting future sales,
which could adversely affect our business, findnmadition, and results of operations.

Product Liability

The products we sell or service may expose pstential liabilities for personal injury orgperty damage claims relating to the use of
those products. Historically, the resolution ofguwot liability claims has not materially affectedrdusiness. Our manufacturers generally
maintain product liability insurance, and we maimthird-party product liability insurance, whictevbelieve to be adequate. However, we
may experience legal claims in excess of our imegaoverage, and those claims may not be coveratgsbrance. Furthermore, any
significant claims against us could adversely aftes business, financial condition, and resultepérations and result in negative publicity.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive environmém addition to facing competition generally framcreation businesses seeking to attract
consumers’ leisure time and discretionary spendwiars, the recreational boat industry itselfighty fragmented, resulting in intense
competition for customers, quality products, bdeive space, and suitable retail locations. We relg tertain extent on boat shows to
generate sales. Our inability to participate inttst®ws in our existing or targeted markets coabtdeha material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of opens.

We compete primarily with singleeation boat dealers and, with respect to salesasfne equipment, parts, and accessories, witbna
specialty marine stores, catalog retailers, sppigioods stores, and mass
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merchants. Dealer competition continues to incréased on the quality of available products, theepaind value of the products, and
attention to customer service. There is signifiGrhpetition both within markets we currently seavel in new markets that we may enter.
We compete in each of our markets with retailersrahds of boats and engines we do not sell inrtfzaket. In addition, several of our
competitors, especially those selling boating ammess, are large national or regional chainshbae substantial financial, marketing, and
other resources. However, we believe that our iated corporate infrastructure and marketing afessaapabilities, our cost structure, and
our nationwide presence enable us to compete efcagainst these companies. Private sales af beats is an additional significant
source of competition.

Executive Officers

The following table sets forth informationno@rning each of our executive officers:

Name Age Position

William H. McGill Jr. 60 Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executiffic€r, and
Director

Michael H. McLamb 38 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial OfficBecretary, and
Director

Kurt M. Frahn 35 Vice President of Finance and Treast

Jack P. Ezze 33 Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer, and Cofier

Edward A. Russe 43 Vice Presiden

Michael J. Aiello 47 Vice Presiden

Anthony K. Aisquith 36 Vice Presiden

William H. McGill Jr. has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Maviag since January 23, 1998 and as the Chairmamed8vard
and as a director of our company since March 68188. McGill served as the President of our compliom January 23, 1988 until
September 8, 2000 and re-assumed the positionlpi JB002. Mr. McGill was the principal owner aptesident of Gulfwind USA, Inc., one
of our operating subsidiaries, from 1973 untilnterger with us.

Michael H. McLambhas served as Executive Vice President of our cagnpeice October 2002, as Chief Financial Offidacs
January 23, 1998, as Secretary since April 5, 18088,as a director of our company since Novemb2003. Mr. McLamb served as Vice
President and Treasurer of our company from Jar@@&r¢998 until October 22, 2002. Mr. McLamb, atified public accountant, was
employed by Arthur Andersen, LLP from December 1@8December 1997, serving most recently as a semanager.

Kurt M. Frahnhas served as Vice President of Finance and Treragliour company since October 22, 2002. Mr. Frsdmved as Direct
of Taxes and Acquisitions of our company from M&y 1998 until October 22, 2002. Mr. Frahn was erygtbby Arthur Andersen, LLP
from September 3, 1991 until May 15, 1998, servitast recently as a tax consulting manager.

Jack P. Ezzelhas served as Vice President and Chief Accountiffiged of our company since October 22, 2002. Mzz&l served as
Corporate Controller of our company from June B9 8ntil October 22, 2002 and Assistant Contrdiiem January 13, 1998 until June 1,
1999. Mr. Ezzell, a certified public accountantsveamployed by Arthur Andersen, LLP from August 198l January 1998, serving most
recently as a senior auditor.

Edward A. Russelias served as Vice President of our company sicteb®r 22, 2002. Mr. Russell has served as thedRagManager ¢
our Florida operations since August 1, 2002. Rodhat, Mr. Russell served as the District Presider our Central and West Florida
operations from March 1998 until August 1, 2002. Russell was an owner and General Sales Manadgeunléfind USA Inc., one of our
operating subsidiaries, now called MarineMax of €€arFlorida, from 1984 until its merger with owrapany in March 1998.
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Michael J. Aiellohas served as Vice President of our company simtab®@r 22, 2002. Mr. Aiello has served as the ReiManager of
the state of New Jersey and surrounding areas $B@® and was a principal owner and operator ofitNlésirine Inc., one of our operating
subsidiaries, now called MarineMax of Mid-Atlantfopm 1985 until its merger with our company in iar1999.

Anthony K. Aisquitthas served as Vice President of our company simseiber 1, 2003. Mr. Aisquith has served as thadRed
Manager of our Georgia, Carolinas, and Texas ojp@sasince August 1, 2000, March 1, 2002, and Ma&;H2003, respectively.
Mr. Aisquith previously served as the Store Managfesur Tampa, Florida location from October 1, 79til August 1, 2000 and as a
salesperson in our Clearwater, Florida locatiomftlune 18, 1995 until October 1, 1997. Mr. Aisqigihed our company on June 18, 1995
after 10 years of experience in the auto industry.

RISK FACTORS

Our success depends to a significant extent on tkentinued popularity and reputation for quality of the boating products of our
manufacturers, particularly Brunswick's Sea Ray andHatteras boat lines.

Approximately 65% of our revenue in fiscaD3resulted from sales of new boats manufactureBrbgswick, including 55% from
Brunswick’s Sea Ray division and 10% from Brunsvigdkatteras Yacht division. The remainder of ogcél 2003 revenue from new boat
sales resulted from sales of products from a lighitember of other manufacturers, none of which acted for a significant portion of our
revenue. Any adverse change in the financial camdiproduction efficiency, product developmentnagement, marketplace acceptance
marketing capabilities of our manufacturers, pattidy Brunswick given our reliance on Sea Ray Hiatkeras, would have a substantial
adverse impact on our business.

To ensure adequate inventory levels to supporexpansion, it may be necessary for Brunswiuk other manufacturers to increase
production levels or allocate a greater percentdigleeir production to us. The interruption or disinuance of the operations of Brunswick
or other manufacturers could cause us to experigimagfalls, disruptions, or delays with respeatéeded inventory. Although we believe
that adequate alternate sources would be availaiteould replace any manufacturer other than 8mick as a product source, those
alternate sources may not be available at the d¢ina@y interruption, and alternative products mayve available at comparable quality and
prices.

Through our principal operating subsidiari@e,maintain dealer agreements with Brunswick dogefea Ray products. Each dealer
agreement has a multi-year term and provides ®tdWwest product prices charged by the Sea Ragidiviof Brunswick from time to time to
other domestic Sea Ray dealers. These terms gextt

« the dealer meeting all the requirements and canditof Sea Ray’s applicable programs; and
« the right of Brunswick in good faith to charge kessprices to other dealers;

— to meet existing competitive circumstances;

— for unusual and non-ordinary business circumstsinar

— for limited duration promotional programs.

The agreements do not give us the exclusive righell Sea Ray product lines within any partictéaritory or restrict us from selling
competing products.

Through certain of our operating subsidigries also maintain dealer agreements with Hattewsaering Hatteras products. Each
agreement allows Hatteras to revise prices atiamgy, tand such new prices will supersede previoiceprPursuant to the agreement, we must
bear any losses we incur as a result of such phiaages and may not recover from Hatteras for @ssek. In addition, certain of our
operating subsidiaries may not represent manufacstur product lines that compete directly withtelas without its prior written consent.
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As is typical in the industry, we deal wittanufacturers, other than the Sea Ray division ahBwick, Ferretti Group, and Bertram, under
renewable annual dealer agreements. These agreedtenodt contain any contractual provisions corniagrproduct pricing or required
purchasing levels. Pricing is generally establisbie@ model year basis, but is subject to changfeeimanufacturer’s sole discretion. Any
change or termination of these arrangements for@ason could adversely affect product availahitityst and our financial performance.

Our operations depend upon a number of factors reliéng to or affecting consumer spending for luxury @ods, such as recreational
boats.

Unfavorable local, regional, national, orlzadbeconomic developments or uncertainties reggriiture economic prospects could reduce
consumer spending in the markets we serve and selyaaffect our business. Consumer spending omyuxoiods also may decline as a re
of lower consumer confidence levels, even if prigvgieconomic conditions are favorable. In an eenizodownturn, consumer discretionary
spending levels generally decline, at times resglith disproportionately large reductions in thke sd luxury goods. Similarly, rising interest
rates could have a negative impact on the abilitywibingness of consumers to finance boat purckassich could also adversely affect our
ability to sell our products and impact the prdfititly of our finance and insurance activities. Bbinfluences, such as corporate downsizing
and military base closings, also could adversdigycafour operations in certain markets. We maysble to maintain our profitability during
any period of adverse economic conditions or lowscmner confidence. Changes in federal and statewess such as an imposition of luxury
taxes on new boat purchases, and stock marketrpefee also could influence consumetstisions to purchase products we offer and ¢
have a negative effect on our sales. For examplingl 1991 and 1992 the federal government impasleaury tax on new recreational boats
with sales prices in excess of $100,000, whichaded with a sharp decline in boating industry sdtem a high of more than $17.9 billion
in the late 1980s to a low of $10.3 billion in 1992

General economic conditions that impact the recre&nal boating industry could inhibit our growth and negatively impact our
profitability.

General economic conditions, consumer spgnplititerns, federal tax policies, interest ratel&evand the cost and availability of fuel can
impact overall boat purchases. We believe thalethel of boat purchases has been adversely affégtéttreased competition from other
recreational activities, perceived hassles of bwoatership, and relatively poor customer service egatation throughout the retail boat
industry. Although our strategy addresses manhedgd industry factors and we have expanded ouatipes during periods of stagnant or
declining industry trends, the cyclical naturetod tecreational boating industry or the lack oflisty growth could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, or results of operat in the future.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to cdimue to make successful acquisitions and to integte the operations of acquired
dealers and each dealer we acquire in the future.

Since March 1, 1998, we have acquired 2lesdimnal boat dealers, two boat brokerage opegtanmd a full-service yacht repair facility.
Each acquired dealer operated independently gritis facquisition by us. Our success depends,rin @a our ability to continue to make
successful acquisitions and to integrate the ojperabf acquired dealers and each dealer we aciuiihe future, including centralizing
certain functions to achieve cost savings and pogsprograms and processes that promote cooperatidithe sharing of opportunities and
resources among our dealerships. We may not be@bleersee the combined entity efficiently orrpiement effectively our growth and
operating strategies. To the extent that we sufidgspursue our acquisition strategy, our resgtgrowth will place significant additional
demands on our management and infrastructure. dilurd to pursue successfully our acquisition styggs or operate effectively the
combined entity could have a material adverse effaour rate of growth and operating performance.

23




Unforeseen expenses, difficulties, and delays fregutly encountered in connection with rapid expansio through acquisitions could
inhibit our growth and negatively impact our profit ability.

Our growth strategy of acquiring additionatneational boat dealers involves significant ridkss strategy entails reviewing and
potentially reorganizing acquired business openaticorporate infrastructure and systems, and diaanontrols. Unforeseen expenses,
difficulties, and delays frequently encountered¢@mnection with rapid expansion through acquisgioauld inhibit our growth and negative
impact our profitability. We may be unable to id§nsuitable acquisition candidates or to comptée acquisitions of candidates that we
identify. Increased competition for acquisition datates may increase purchase prices for acquisitolevels beyond our financial
capability or to levels that would not result iretfeturns required by our acquisition criteriaatfdition, we may encounter difficulties in
integrating the operations of acquired dealers withown operations or managing acquired dealaftably without substantial costs,
delays, or other operational or financial problems.

We may issue common or preferred stock aadrisubstantial indebtedness in making future adipms. The size, timing, and
integration of any future acquisitions may caudestantial fluctuations in operating results fronadar to quarter. Consequently, operating
results for any quarter may not be indicative @&f tbsults that may be achieved for any subsequemtey or for a full fiscal year. These
fluctuations could adversely affect the market @€ our common stock.

Our ability to continue to grow through themaisition of additional dealers will depend uparivus factors, including the following:
« the availability of suitable acquisition candidassttractive purchase prices;

« the ability to compete effectively for availablegadsition opportunities;

« the availability of funds or common stock with dfient market price to complete the acquisitions;

« the ability to obtain any requisite manufacturegovernmental approvals; and

« the absence of one or more manufacturers attemtatimgpose unsatisfactory restrictions on us innemtion with their approval of
acquisitions

As a part of our acquisition strategy, wegfrently engage in discussions with various reaveatiboat dealers regarding their potential
acquisition by us. In connection with these disimrss we and each potential acquisition candidatd&nge confidential operational and
financial information, conduct due diligence indedr, and consider the structure, terms, and camditdf the potential acquisition. In certain
cases, the prospective acquisition candidate agids discuss a potential acquisition with arlyeotparty for a specific period of time,
grants us an option to purchase the prospectiierdies a designated price during a specific tiareqd agrees to take other actions designed to
enhance the possibility of the acquisition, suchraparing audited financial information and cotivey its accounting system to the system
specified by us. Potential acquisition discussioeguently take place over a long period of timd avolve difficult business integration and
other issues, including in some cases, managemeo¢ssion and related matters. As a result of thedether factors, a number of potential
acquisitions that from time to time appear likedyoccur do not result in binding legal agreements@e not consummated.

We may be required to obtain the consent of Brunswk and various other manufacturers prior to the acayisition of other dealers.

In determining whether to approve acquisitions, afiacturers may consider many factors, includingfmancial condition and ownerst
structure. Manufacturers also may impose condit@mngranting their approvals for acquisitions, utthg a limitation on the number of their
dealers that we may acquire. Our ability to meetunfiacturers’ requirements for approving future asijons will have a direct bearing on
our ability to complete acquisitions and effect guwwth strategy. There can be no assurance timatnaifacturer will not terminate its dealer
agreement, refuse to renew its dealer agreeméuaseréo approve future acquisitions, or take o#tation that could have a material adverse
effect on our acquisition program.
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We and Brunswick have entered into an agreementding for Brunswick to cooperate in good faith amat to unreasonably withhold
consent to the acquisitions each year by us ofR&gaboat dealers with aggregate total revenuexuaezling 20% of our revenue in our prior
fiscal year. Any acquisitions in excess of the 208achmark will be at Brunswick’s discretion. In #anent that our purchases of Sea Ray
boats exceed 49% of the purchases of Sea Ray lppatESea Ray boat dealers, including us, in &uaf year of Brunswick, the agreement
provides that we and Brunswick will negotiate iroddaith the standards for acquisitions of Sea R#t dealers by us during Brunswick’s
next succeeding fiscal year, but that Brunswick mant or withhold its consent to any such acdoisiin its sole discretion for as long as
Sea Ray boat purchases exceed the 49% benchmark.

Our growth strategy also entails expandingpraduct lines and geographic scope by obtainddijtnal distribution rights from our
existing and new manufacturers. We may not be tabdecure additional distribution rights or obtaintable alternative sources of supply if
we are unable to obtain such distribution rightse Thability to expand our product lines and gepbr@scope by obtaining additional
distribution rights could have a material adverffect on the growth and profitability of our busgse

Boat manufacturers exercise substantial control oveour business.

We depend on our dealer agreements. Throegledagreements, boat manufacturers, including®vick, exercise significant control
over their dealers, restrict them to specified fiores, and retain approval rights over changesanagement and ownership, among other
things. The continuation of our dealer agreemeiitts most manufacturers, including Brunswick, depeadon, among other things, our
achieving stated goals for customer satisfactitinga and market share penetration in the markeedey the applicable dealership. Failure
to meet the customer satisfaction, market sharksgaad other conditions set forth in any dealeeament could have various consequences,
including the following:

« the termination of the dealer agreement;

« the imposition of additional conditions in subsetLeealer agreements;

« limitations on boat inventory allocations;

« reductions in reimbursement rates for warranty wikormed by the dealer;
« loss of certain manufacturer to dealer incentiees;

« denial of approval of future acquisitions.

Our dealer agreements with manufacturergjdieg Brunswick, generally do not give us the esole right to sell those manufacturers’
products within a given geographical area. Accaglyina manufacturer, including Brunswick, couldtarize another dealer to start a new
dealership in proximity to one or more of our léoas, or an existing dealer could move a dealerghglocation that would be directly
competitive with us. These events could have amahtedverse effect on our competitive position &indncial performance.

The failure to receive rebates and other dealer irentives on inventory purchases could substantiallieduce our margins.

We rely on manufacturers’ programs that pfevincentives for dealers to purchase and selicodat boat makes and models or for
consumers to buy particular boat makes or modeig.éliminations, reductions, limitations, or otlanges relating to rebate or incentive
programs that have the effect of reducing the benee receive could increase the effective costusfboat purchases, reduce our margins
and competitive position, and have a material agtveffect on our financial performance.
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Our growth strategy may require us to secure signi€ant additional capital, the amount of which willdepend upon the size, timing, an
structure of future acquisitions and our working capital and general corporate needs.

If we finance future acquisitions in wholeiompart through the issuance of common stock oursiées convertible into or exercisable for
common stock, existing stockholders will experiedistion in the voting power of their common staakd earnings per share could be
negatively impacted. The extent to which we willdide or willing to use our common stock for acdigas will depend on the market value
of our common stock from time to time and the wijihess of potential sellers to accept our commaeksds full or partial consideration. Our
inability to use our common stock as consideratiorgenerate cash from operations, or to obtaiitiadd! funding through debt or equity
financings in order to pursue our acquisition pasgrcould materially limit our growth.

Any borrowings made to finance future acdigas or for operations could make us more vulnlerédba downturn in our operating
results, a downturn in economic conditions, oréases in interest rates on borrowings that aresuty interest rate fluctuations. If our cash
flow from operations is insufficient to meet oubtiservice requirements, we could be required tadeitional equity securities, refinance
our obligations, or dispose of assets in order éetour debt service requirements. In addition,coedit arrangements contain financial and
operational covenants and other restrictions witictvwe must comply, including limitations on capbiexpenditures and the incurrence of
additional indebtedness. Adequate financing maybeatvailable if and when we need it or may noavslable on terms acceptable to us.
The failure to obtain sufficient financing on faabie terms and conditions could have a materiatiesdveffect on our growth prospects and
our business, financial condition, and resultspdrations.

Our current revolving credit facility provisla line of credit with asset-based borrowing amlity of up to $220 million and allows us
$20 million in traditional floorplan borrowings. Weave pledged certain of our assets, principalbt iloventories, to secure borrowings under
our credit facility. While we believe we will contie to obtain adequate financing from lenders, $melmcing may not be available to us.

Our internal growth and operating strategies of opaing new locations and offering new products involg risk.

In addition to pursuing growth by acquiringglb dealers, we intend to continue to pursue &esfyaof growth through opening new retail
locations and offering new products in our existamgl new territories. Accomplishing these goalssipansion will depend upon a numbe
factors, including the following:

* our ability to identify new markets in which we cabtain distribution rights to sell our existingaaditional product lines;

« our ability to lease or construct suitable faitiat a reasonable cost in existing or new markets;

* our ability to hire, train, and retain qualifiedrpennel;

« the timely integration of new retail locations irgristing operations;

« our ability to achieve adequate market penetraidavorable operating margins without the acqaisiof existing dealers; and
« our financial resources.

Our dealer agreements with Brunswick regBimenswick’s consent to open, close, or changelretzations that sell Sea Ray products,
and other dealer agreements generally containaimibvisions. We may not be able to open and ¢@@&w retail locations or introduce n
product lines on a timely or profitable basis. Mwrer, the costs associated with opening new reteditions or introducing new product lines
may adversely affect our profitability.

As a result of these growth strategies, weeekto expend significant time and effort in openand acquiring new retail locations and
introducing new products. Our systems, procedwastrols, and financial
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resources may not be adequate to support our exmgpagerations. The inability to manage our groeffiectively could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial conditiom results of operations.

Our planned growth also will impose signifitadded responsibilities on members of senior g@ment and require us to identify,
recruit, and integrate additional senior level ng@ra. We may not be able to identify, hire, omtrsiitable additions to management.

Our business, as well as the entire recreational lating industry, is highly seasonal, with seasonalitvarying in different geographic
markets. In addition, weather conditions may adversly impact our business.

During the three-year period ended Septer@@e2003, the average revenue for the quarteripgeended December 31, March 31,
June 30, and September 30 represented 17%, 26%,282P25%, respectively, of our average annualmese. With the exception of Florida,
we generally realize significantly lower saleshe guarterly period ending December 31 with bokessgenerally improving in January with
the onset of the public boat and recreation sh@us.business could become substantially more sehasrwe acquire dealers that operate in
colder regions of the United States.

Weather conditions may adversely impact our opagatesults. For example, drought conditions, reduainfall levels, and excessive r
may force boating areas to close or render boakimgierous or inconvenient, thereby curtailing cugtodemand for our products. In
addition, unseasonably cool weather and prolongatewconditions may lead to shorter selling seasnrecertain locations. Hurricanes and
other storms could result in the disruption of operations or damage to our boat inventories acititias. Many of our dealerships sell boats
to customers for use on reservoirs, thereby subgeour business to the continued viability of #nesservoirs for boating use. Although our
geographic diversity and our future geographic egpm will reduce the overall impact on us of adeaweather conditions in any one market
area, weather conditions will continue to repregeniéntial material adverse risks to us and owr@ubperating performance. As a result of
the foregoing and other factors, our operatingltesn some future quarters could be below the etgiimns of stock market analysts and
investors.

We face intense competition.

We operate in a highly competitive environmém addition to facing competition generally fraran-boating recreation businesses
seeking to attract discretionary spending dolldrs recreational boat industry itself is highlygnaented, resulting in intense competition for
customers, product distribution rights, and sugabtail locations, particularly on or near wateysiaCompetition increases during periods of
stagnant industry growth.

We compete primarily with singleeation boat dealers and, with respect to salesasfne parts, accessories, and equipment, witbrrad
specialty marine parts and accessories storespgattailers, sporting goods stores, and masshmats. Competition among boat dealers is
based on the quality of available products, thegpaind value of the products, and attention tooooet service. There is significant
competition both within markets we currently seavel in new markets that we may enter. We competach of our markets with retailers
brands of boats and engines we do not sell inntzaket. In addition, several of our competitorgezsally those selling marine equipment
accessories, are large national or regional chhatshave substantial financial, marketing, an@&otkesources. Private sales of used boats
represent an additional source of competition.

We depend on income from financing, insurance, anextended service contracts.

A portion of our income results from referral faEsived from the placement or marketing of variB&s products, consisting of custorr
financing, insurance products, and extended sepdo&acts, the most significant component of wlhigcthe participation and other fees
resulting from our sale of customer financing caats. During fiscal 2003, F&I products accountedapproximately 3.8% of our revenue.
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The availability of financing for our boatnohasers and the level of participation and othesfwe receive in connection with such
financing depend on the particular agreement betwseand the lender and the current rate envirohrhenders may impose terms in their
boat financing arrangements with us that may bawerible to us or our customers, resulting in redutemand for our customer financing
programs and lower participation and other fees.

The reduction of profit margins on sales &f products or the lack of demand for or the un&lzlity of these products could have a
material adverse effect on our operating margins.

We depend on key personnel.

Our success depends, in large part, uponahgnuing efforts and abilities of our executiiiaers. Although we have an employment
agreement with certain of our executive officers,a@nnot assure that these or other executiverrebwill remain with us. As a result of
our decentralized operating strategy, we alsooalthe management teams of our operating subgdidn addition, we likely will depend on
the senior management of any significant businessescquire in the future. The loss of the servafasne or more of these key employees
before we are able to attract and retain qualifegdacement personnel could adversely affect osinless.

The products we sell or service may expose us totpotial liability for personal injury or property d amage claims relating to the use of
those products.

Manufacturers of the products we sell geferahintain product liability insurance. We alsointain third-party product liability
insurance that we believe to be adequate. We magrience claims that are not covered by or thaireescess of our insurance coverage.
The institution of any significant claims againstaould subject us to damages, result in higheramee costs, and harm our business
reputation with potential customers.

Environmental and other regulatory issues may impatcour operations.

Our operations are subject to extensive regulatiopervision, and licensing under various fedestalke, and local statutes, ordinances,
regulations. The failure to satisfy those and otkgulatory requirements could have a material esdveffect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Various federal, state, and local regulatoggncies, including OSHA or the EPA, and similaiefal and local agencies, have jurisdiction
over the operation of our dealerships, repair itéed, and other operations, with respect to mateich as consumer protection, workers’
safety, and laws regarding protection of the emrirent, including air, water, and soil. The EPA rebepromulgated emissions regulations
for outboard marine engines that impose strictdsgions standards for two-cycle, gasoline outboaadine engines. Emissions from such
engines must be reduced by approximately 75% owimeayear period beginning with the 1998 modelry€asts of comparable new
engines, if materially more expensive than previengines, or the inability of our manufacturersaeoply with EPA requirements, could
have a material adverse effect on our businesaial condition, and results of operations.

Certain of our facilities own and operate 43dr the storage of various petroleum productsT4J&e generally subject to federal, state,
and local laws and regulations that require testimgj upgrading of USTs and remediation of contatathaoils and groundwater resulting
from leaking USTs. In addition, we may be subjectitil liability to third parties for remediatiotosts or other damages if leakage from our
owned or operated USTs migrates onto the propéyhers.

Our business involves the use, handlingag®mrand contracting for recycling or disposalafdrdous or toxic substances or wastes,
including environmentally sensitive materials, sastmotor oil, waste motor oil and filters, transsimon fluid, antifreeze, freon, waste paint
and lacquer thinner, batteries, solvents, lubrgatgreasing agents, gasoline, and diesel fuetordingly, we are subject to regulation by
federal, state, and local authorities establisimrgstigation and health and environmental qualigndards, and liability related thereto, and
providing penalties for violations of those stariar
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We also are subject to laws, ordinances ragdlations governing investigation and remediatiboontamination at facilities we operate
or to which we send hazardous or toxic substancesstes for treatment, recycling, or disposaparticular, the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Lialflitty or CERCLA or “Superfund,” imposes joint, striand several liability on

< owners or operators of facilities at, from, or thigh a release of hazardous substances has occurred
* parties who generated hazardous substances thatreleased at such facilities; and
« parties who transported or arranged for the tramapon of hazardous substances to such facilities.

A majority of states have adopted “Superfund” segwcomparable to and, in some cases, more sttittggmCERCLA. If we were to be

found to be a responsible party under CERCLA drrélar state statute, we could be held liable fbirevestigative and remedial costs
associated with addressing such contaminationddiitian, claims alleging personal injury or progetamage may be brought against us as a
result of alleged exposure to hazardous substaasaling from our operations. In addition, certafrour retail locations are located on
waterways that are subject to federal or state tagslating navigable waters (including oil polartiprevention), fish and wildlife, and other
matters.

Soil and groundwater contamination has beemwk to exist at certain properties owned or ledseds. We have also been required and
may in the future be required to remove abovegramtunderground storage tanks containing hazarsldastances or wastes. As to certain
of our properties, specific releases of petrole@velbeen or are in the process of being remediatactordance with state and federal
guidelines. We are monitoring the soil and grourtéwas required by applicable state and federalalimes. We also may have additional
storage tank liability insurance and “SuperfundVexage where applicable. Environmental laws andlegigns are complex and subject to
frequent change. Compliance with amended, new @e stoingent laws or regulations, more strict iptetations of existing laws, or the
future discovery of environmental conditions maguiee additional expenditures by us, and such ediperes may be material.

Two of the properties we own were historigaled as gasoline service stations. Remedialratith respect to prior historical site
activities on these properties has been completaddordance with federal and state law. Also,ar@ur properties is within the boundaries
of a “Superfund” site, although our property haslmeen identified as a contributor to the contammmain the area.

Additionally, certain states have requirec considering requiring a license in order terafe a recreational boat. These regulations
could discourage potential buyers, thereby limifniyire sales and adversely affecting our busirfesacial condition, and results of
operations.

Fuel prices and supply may affect our business.

All of the recreational boats we sell are posd by diesel or gasoline engines. Consequemtlintarruption in the supply, or a significant
increase in the price or tax on the sale, of fieh@egional or national basis could have a matadieerse effect on our sales and operating
results. At various times in the past, diesel aofjae fuel has been difficult to obtain. The syppl fuels may be interrupted, rationing may
be imposed, or the price of or tax on fuels mayificantly increase in the future.

We must evaluate goodwill and identifiable intangile assets for impairment annually and we would regmnize an impairment loss if
the carrying amount of goodwill or an identifiableintangible asset exceeds its fair value.

Intangible assets and goodwill represent the exaiedge purchase price of businesses acquiredtheediair value of the net tangible ass
acquired at the date of acquisition. We have deterdnthat our only identifiable intangible asseats dealer agreements, which are indefinite-
lived intangibles. Through our fiscal year endegt&mber 30, 2001, we were required to amortizertamgible assets and goodwill from
acquisitions accounted for as purchases over agefitime, with the amount amortized in a particyleriod constituting an expense that
reduced our net income for that period.
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In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Stadsi®@oard (FASB), issued Statement of Financialodoting Standards No. 141, “Business
Combinations” (SFAS 141), and Statement of Findetaounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Oth@angible Assets” (SFAS 142).
SFAS 141 requires business combinations initiafesst dune 30, 2001 to be accounted for using thehase method of accounting and
identifiable intangible assets acquired in a bussrmbination to be recognized as assets andedm®parately from goodwill. SFAS 142
requires that goodwill and indefinite-lived intabigi assets no longer be amortized, but insteadddst impairment at least annually.

SFAS 142 was effective for fiscal years bagig after December 15, 2001, with early applicapermitted in certain circumstances. We
elected to early adopt SFAS 142 in fiscal 2002. SAA?2 required the completion of a transitionalamment test within six months from the
date of initial adoption of the statement. In aidditto the initial assessment, we assess the impgair of identifiable intangible assets and
goodwill at least annually or whenever events @ngfes in circumstances indicate that the carryadgevmay not be recoverable. If the
carrying amount of an identifiable intangible assegjoodwill exceeds its fair value, we would regizg an impairment loss. We measure any
potential impairment based on various businessatiain methodologies, including a projected discedrtash flow method. We completed
the transitional impairment test, which resultecdnimpairment of goodwill or identifiable intand¢gbassets. We have also completed the
annual impairment test at June 30, 2003, whichltesin no impairment of goodwill or identifiablatangible assets. To date, we have not
recognized any impairment of goodwill or identifialintangible assets in connection with SFAS 142.Will continue to test goodwill and
identifiable intangible assets for impairment atsteannually on June 30, or whenever events orggsain circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. Prior toatieption of SFAS 142, all purchase price in exoéske net tangible assets was recorded
as goodwill and no identifiable intangible assetsawecognized. Identifiable intangible assetsretdyoodwill amounted to $4.5 million and
$48.6 million, respectively, as of September 3@3R20

A reduction in net income resulting from thgpairment of identifiable intangible assets or dwdl may have an adverse impact upon the
market price of our common stock, impairment inithentifiable intangible assets or goodwill or rigary action that changes the
impairment testing methodology, requires amortmator a writeeff of identifiable intangible assets or goodwilaynmaterially and adverse
affect the financial position of our company.

A substantial number of shares of our common stochre subject to a stockholders agreement.

We, Brunswick, and William H. McGill Jr., o@hairman of the Board, President, and Chief Exeefficer, are parties to a
stockholders’ agreement, and we and Brunswick aregs to a governance agreement, each dated 2§rll998. Subject to certain
limitations, the stockholders’ agreement providasous rights of first refusal on the sale of ssasEcommon stock by the parties to the
agreement, particularly in the event that Brunsvdoks not own its targeted investment percentad®%f of our common stock at the time
the proposed sale or in the event the proposedssadea competitor of Brunswick. Among other pgighs and subject to certain conditions,
the stockholders’ agreement also requires thegsaii vote their common stock for nominees of thardh of directors in the election of
directors and to vote their common stock in favioslbproposals and recommendations approved byoard of directors and submitted to a
vote of our stockholders. The governance agreeprentdes for various terms and conditions concermnunswick’s participation in the
corporate governance of our company.

As a result, the stockholders’ agreementthadjovernance agreement will have the effect@kiasing the control of our directors,
executive officers, and persons associated witinthed may have the effect of delaying or prevengimmpange in control of our company.

The market price of our common stock could be subj to wide fluctuations as a result of many factors
Factors that could affect the trading pri€ewr common stock include the following:

« variations in operating results;
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« the thin trading volume and relatively small pubfl@at of our common stock;
« the level and success of our acquisition prograchreaw store openings;
« variations in same-store sales;

« the success of dealership integration;

« relationships with manufacturers;

« changes in earnings estimates published by analysts

« general economic, political, and market conditions;

« seasonality and weather conditions;

» governmental policies and regulations;

« the performance of the recreational boat industryeneral; and

« factors relating to suppliers and competitors.

In addition, market demand for small-cap#afion stocks, and price and volume fluctuationthenstock market unrelated to our
performance could result in significant fluctuagan market price of our common stock. The perfarceaof our common stock could
adversely affect our ability to raise equity in fhgblic markets and adversely affect our acquisipoogram.

The issuance of additional common stock in the fute, including shares that we may issue pursuant toption grants and future
acquisitions, may result in dilution in the net tamible book value per share of our common stock.

Our board of directors has the legal powek @uthority to determine the terms of an offerifiglwares of our capital stock, or securities
convertible into or exchangeable for these shaoethe extent of our shares of authorized and ureigapital stock.

A substantial number of shares are eligible for fuire sale.

As of September 30, 2003, there were outstgnth,401,686 shares of our common stock. Subatyrall of these shares are freely
tradable without restriction or further registrationder the securities laws, unless held by afilia&e” of our company, as that term is
defined in Rule 144 under the securities laws. &hheld by affiliates of our company, which gengriaclude our directors, officers, and
certain principal stockholders, are subject tordmale limitations of Rule 144 described below.gbarding shares of common stock issued in
connection with the acquisition of any acquiredlélesaare available for resale beginning one yetar éfie respective dates of the acquisitions,
subject to compliance with the provisions of Rud@ Linder the securities laws.

As of September 30, 2003, we had issued optio purchase approximately 2,326,589 sharesroframn stock under our 1998 incentive
stock plan and we issued 204,774 of the 500,00 shd# common stock reserved for issuance undet @8 employee stock purchase plan.
We have filed a registration statement under tioeriges laws to register the common stock to saesl under these plans. As a result, shares
issued under these plans will be freely tradabtaauit restriction unless acquired by affiliatesoaf company, who will be subject to the
volume and other limitations of Rule 144.

We may issue additional shares of common stockefepred stock under the securities laws as pahgfacquisition we may complete
the future. If issued pursuant to an effectivestrgtion statement, these shares generally witdmdy tradable after their issuance by persons
not affiliated with us or the acquired companies.
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We rely on our operating subsidiaries.

We are a holding company, the principal aseétvhich are the shares of the capital stock @emivership interests of our corporate or
limited liability company subsidiaries, includiniget operating subsidiaries. As a holding companfiauit independent means of generating
operating revenue, we depend on dividends and pthanents from our subsidiaries to fund our oblayet and meet our cash needs.
Financial covenants under future loan agreementsiiosubsidiaries may limit our subsidiaries’ agitio make sufficient dividend or other
payments to permit us to fund our obligations oetraur cash needs, in whole or in part.

We do not pay cash dividends.

We have never paid cash dividends on our comstock and do not anticipate paying cash dividendhe foreseeable future. Moreover,
financial covenants under certain of our creditliées restrict our ability to pay dividends.

Our stockholders’ rights plan may adversely affecexisting stockholders.

Our Stockholders’ Rights Plan may have tliectfof deterring, delaying, or preventing a chaimgeontrol that might otherwise be in the
best interests of our stockholders. Under the Riftein, we issued a dividend of one Preferred SPiarehase Right for each share of our
common stock held by stockholders of record asi@fctose of business on September 7, 2001.

In general, subject to certain limited ex¢mm, the stock purchase rights become exerciselidd® a person or group acquires 15% or
more of our common stock or a tender offer or ergeaoffer for 15% or more of our common stock is@amced or commenced. After any
such event, our other stockholders may purchasiéi@uhl shares of our common stock at 50% of tlemtburrent market price. The rights
will cause substantial dilution to a person or grthat attempts to acquire us on terms not approyeslr board of directors. The rights may
be redeemed by us at $0.01 per stock purchaseatigimy time before any person or group acquirés d6more of our outstanding common
stock. The rights should not interfere with any gegror other business combination approved by oardof directors. The rights expire on
August 28, 2011.

Certain provisions of our restated certificate of hcorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may make ahange in the control of our
company more difficult to complete, even if a changin control were in the stockholders’ interest omight result in a premium over
the market price for the shares held by the stockHders.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylawside the board of directors into three classedictors elected for staggered three-year
terms. The certificate of incorporation also pr@sdhat the board of directors may authorize thieaisce of one or more series of preferred
stock from time to time and may determine the sghteferences, privileges, and restrictions axnth& number of shares of any such series
of preferred stock, without any vote or action loy stockholders. The board of directors may autlecttie issuance of preferred stock with
voting or conversion rights that could adversefgeafthe voting power or other rights of the hofdef common stock. The certificate of
incorporation also allows our board of directorgixahe number of directors and to fill vacanc@sthe board of directors.

We also are subject to the anti-takeover igions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Catjan Law, which prohibits us from
engaging in a “business combination” with an “ietged stockholder” for a period of three yearsrdfte date of the transaction in which the
person became an “interested stockholder,” untesstisiness combination is approved in a prescritsther.

Certain of our dealer agreements could alakenit difficult for a third party to attempt toqdre a significant ownership position in our
company. In addition, the stockholders’ agreemadtgovernance agreement will have the effect akiasing the control of our directors,
executive officers, and persons associated witinthe
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Our prior engagement of Arthur Andersen LLP as ourindependent auditors during fiscal year 2001 may atkrsely affect our ability
to make timely filings with the Securities and Exchnge Commission,

Our former auditor, Arthur Andersen LLP, isduan audit report with respect to our audited clidated financial statements as of and for
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001, whiafciaded in this report. During 2002, Arthur AndemnsLLP was found guilty on a federal
obstruction charge and ceased practicing beforSHt@. Arthur Andersen has not reissued its augiintenith respect to the audited
consolidated financial statements as of and fofitioal year ended September 30, 2001 includelignréport. Furthermore, Arthur Andersen
has not consented to the inclusion of its audibrein this report. As a result, relief that maygrally be available to stockholders under the
federal securities laws against auditing firms maybe available as a practical matter against Agaatesince it has ceased operations and ha:
limited or no assets available for creditors.

The SEC has said that it will continue acitegpfinancial statements audited by Andersen ag &ma reasonable effort is made to have
Andersen reissue its reports and to obtain a mhnsighed accountant’s report from Andersen. Oweas to the capital markets and our
ability to make timely filings with the SEC coule limpaired if the SEC ceases accepting financaéstents from a prior period audited by
Andersen for which we are not able to obtain astegsl audit report from Andersen. In that case, weldvnot be able to access the public
markets unless another independent accountingidiable to audit the financial statements originalidited by Andersen. Any delay or
inability to access the public capital markets ealusy these circumstances could have a materiarseeffect on us.

Our sales of Ferretti Group product may be adversel affected by fluctuations in currency exchange ras between the U.S. dollar and
the Euro.

Products purchased from the Ithlysed Ferretti Group are subject to fluctuatiorthénEuro to U.S. dollar exchange rate, which watiety
may impact the retail price at which we can sethsproducts. Accordingly, fluctuations in the vabfehe Euro as compared with the
U.S. dollar may impact the price points at whicheaa sell profitably Ferretti Group products, andrsprice points may not be competitive
with other product lines in the United States. Adaagly, such fluctuations in exchange rates ultehamay impact the amount of revenue or
cost of goods sold, cash flows, and earnings wegmze for the Ferretti Group product line. The &apof these currency fluctuations could
increase, particularly as our revenue from thedtgiGroup products increase as a percentage dbtalirevenue. We cannot predict the
effects of exchange rate fluctuations on our ofpggaesults. We do not currently intend to engagtreign currency exchange hedging
transactions to manage our foreign currency exgostiand when we do engage in foreign currencyharge hedging transactions, we cal
assure that our strategies will adequately pratacbperating results from the effects of excharage fluctuations.

ltem 2.  Properties

We lease our corporate offices in Clearwdttarida. We also lease 46 of our retail locatiander leases, many of which contain multi-
year renewal options and, some of which grantfirstright of refusal to purchase the propertyaat value. In all such cases, we pay a fi
rent at negotiated rates. In substantially alheffeased locations, we are responsible for ta#isies, insurance, and routine repairs and
maintenance. We own the property associated witl20wther retail locations.
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The following table reflects the status, apmate size, and facilities of our various retadations as of the date of this report.

Square Operated
Location Owned or Leased Footage(l) Facilities ati®perty Since(2) Waterfront
Alabama
Gulf Shores Third-party leas¢ 4,00( Retail and servic 199¢ —
Arizona
Tempe Company owne: 34,00( Retail and servic 199: —
California
Oakland Retail and service; 20 wet Alameda Estuary
Third-party leas¢ 17,70( slips 198t (San Francisco Bay
Santa Ros Third-party lease 8,10( Retail and servic 199( —
Sacramentt Company owne: 24,80( Retail and servic 199t —
Sacramento (River Benc Retail and service; 20 wet
(floating facility) Third-party leas¢ 50C slips 199¢ Sacramento Rive
Sacramentt Third-party leas¢ 30C Retail only; 10 wet slip 200z Sacramento Rive
San Diego Retail and service; 12 wet
Third-party leas¢ 75C slips 1997 Mission Bay
Tower Park (near San
Francisco Third-party leas¢ 40C Retail only 199¢ Sacramento Rive
Colorado
Denver Third-party leas¢ 16,40( Retail and servic 200: —
Grand Junctiot Third-party leas¢ 9,30( Retail and servic 198¢ —
Delaware
Bear Retail and service; 15 wet Between Delaware Bay
Third-party lease 5,00( slips 199t and Chesapeake B:
Florida
Burnt Store Third-party lease 70C Retail only; 4 wet slip: 2002 Charlotte Harbo
Cape Haze Retall, service, and storage;
Company owne: 18,00( 8 wet slips 1972 Intracoastal Waterwa
Clearwater Retail and service; 16 wet
Company owne! 42,00( slips 197: Tampa Bay
Cocoa Company owne: 15,00( Retail and servic 196¢ —
Coconut Grove Third-party lease 2,00¢ Retail only; 5 wet slip: 200z Biscayne Bay
Dania Repair and service; 16 wet
Company owne: 32,00( slips 1991 Port Everglade
Dania Third-party leas¢ 3,50( Retail only; 8 wet slip: 2001 Port Everglade
Ft Lauderdale Retail and service; 15 wet
Third-party leas¢ 2,40( slips 1971 Intracoastal Waterwa
Ft Lauderdal¢ Third-party leas¢ 3,79¢ Retail only; 4 wet slip: 2002 Seminole Rive
Fort Myers Retail and service; 18 wet
Third-party leas¢ 8,00( slips 198: Caloosahatchee Riv
Ft Walton Beacl Third-party leas¢ 6,00( Retail only 200z —
Key Largo Third-party leas¢ 75C Retail only 200z —
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Square Operated
Location Owned or Leased Footage(l) Facilities ati®perty Since(2) Waterfront

Jacksonville Third-party leas¢ 1,00(C Retail only; 7 wet slip: 199t St Johns Rive
Miami Retail and service; 15 wet

Company owne: 7,20C slips 198( Intracoastal Waterwa
Naples Retail and service; 13 wet

Company owne: 19,60( slips 1997 Naples Bay
Palm Beach Retail and service; 8 wet

Company owne: 22,80( slips 199¢ Intracoastal Waterwa
Pensacol; Third-party leas¢ 24,274 Retail and servic 1977 —
Pompano Beach Retail and service; 16 wet

Company owne: 23,00( slips 199( Intracoastal Waterwa
Sarasota Retail, service, and storage

Third-party leas¢ 26,50( 15 wet slips 1972 Sarasota Ba
Stuart Retail and service; 6 wet

Company owne: 22,40( slips 200z Intracoastal Waterwa
Stuart Retail and service; 60 wet

Company owne! 6,70( slips 199/ Intracoastal Waterwa
Tampa Company owne: 13,10( Retail and servic 199t —
Venice Retail, service, and storage

Company owne: 62,00( 90 wet slips 1972 Intracoastal Waterwa
Georgia
Altoona Retail and service; 4 wet

Third-party leas¢ 8,80( slips 2002 Lake Altoona
Buford (Atlanta) Third-party lease 8,50( Retail and servic 2001 —
Forest Park (Atlante Third-party lease 47,30( Retail and servic 197: —
Lake Lanier Retail and service; 50 wet

Third-party leas¢ 13,00( slips 1981 Lake Laniet
Minnesota
Bay Port Third-party leas¢ 45C Retail only; 10 wet slip 199¢ St Croix River
Rogers Company owne! 70,00( Retail, service, and stora 1991 —
Walker Company owne: 76,40( Retall, service, and stora 198¢ —
Walker Retail and service; 93 wet

Company owne! 6,80( slips 1971 Leech Lake
Woodbury Third-party leas¢ 13,39: Retail and servic 1997 —
Nevada
Las Vegas Company owne: 21,60( Retail and servic 199( —
New Jersey
Brick Retail and service; 225 wet

Company owne: 20,00( slips 1971 Manasquan Rive
Brant Beach Retail and service; 36 wet

Third-party leas¢ 3,80( slips 196~ Barnegat Ba
Greenbroo} Third-party leas¢ 18,50( Retail and servic 199t —
Jersey City Third-party leas¢ 50C Retail only; 6 wet slip: 200( Hudson Rive
Lake Hopatcong Retail and service; 80 wet

Third-party lease 4,60( slips 199¢ Lake Hopatcon
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Square Operated
Location Owned or Leased Footage(l) Facilities ati®perty Since(2) Waterfront
Ship Bottom Third-party leas¢ 19,30( Retail and servic 1972 —
Somers Point Retail and service; 33 wet
Affiliate lease 31,00( slips 1987 Little Egg Harbor Bay
North Carolina
Wrightsville Beacl Third-party leas¢ 34,52¢ Retail, service, and stora 199¢ Intracoastal Waterwa
Ohio
Cleveland (Flats Third-party leas¢ 19,00( Retail and servic 199¢ Lake Erie
Port Clinton Retail, service, and storage
Third-party lease 63,70( 155 wet slips 197¢ Lake Erie
Port Clinton Third-party leas¢ 93,25( Retall, service, and stora 1997 Lake Erie
Toledo Third-party lease 12,24( Retail and servic 198¢ —
South Carolina
Myrtle Beach Third-party leas¢ 3,48( Retail only 199¢ Coquina Harbo
Texas
Arlington Third-party leas¢ 21,00( Retail and servic 199¢ —
Houston Third-party lease 10,00( Retail only (3) 1987 —
Houston Third-party lease 10,00( Retail and servic 1981 —
League City (floating Retail and service; 20 wet
facility) (4) Third-party leas¢ 80C slips 198¢ Clear Lake
Lewisville (Dallas) Third-party leas¢ 10,00( Retail and servic 1997 Lake Lewisville
Lewisville (Dallas) (floating
facility) Third-party leas¢ 50C Retail only; 20 wet slips (¢ 199/ Lake Lewisville
Seabrook Retail and service; 30 wet
Company owne! 32,00( slips 200z Clear Lake
Utah
Salt Lake City Third-party leas¢ 21,20( Retail and servic 197¢ —

(1) Square footage does not include outside sales spatmck or marina facilities

(2) Operated since date is the date the facility waneg by us or opened prior to its acquisition hy

(3) Shares service facility located at the other Hausédail locations

(4) We own the floating facility, however, the relaack and marina space is leased by us from aniliatfd third party.

(5) Shares service facility located at the other Leillesvetail location.

ltem 3. Legal Proceeding:

We are involved in various legal proceediagsing out of our operations in the ordinary ceun§ business. We do not believe that such
proceedings, even if determined adversely, willhawmaterial adverse effect on our business, finhoondition, or results of operations.

ltem 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Hold¢
Not applicable.
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PART Il

ltem 5.  Market for the Registrar’'s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matt:

Our common stock has been traded on the Nenk Btock Exchange under the symbol HZO since witial public offering on June 3,
1998 at $12.50 per share. The following table f®th high and low sale prices of the common stimeleach calendar quarter indicated as
reported on the New York Stock Exchange.

High Low

2001
First quartel $ 9.0 $ 55C
Second quarte $998 $ 7.3
Third quartel $ 941 $ 6.0C
Fourth quarte $ 86 $6.31

2002
First quartel $12.65 $ 7.6F
Second quarte $15.4C  $10.8¢
Third quartel $14.1¢  $ 9.0C
Fourth quarte $12.9t  $ 7.1%

2003
First quartel $13.0¢ $ 8.67
Second quarte $14.5C $ 9.0Z
Third quartel $15.47  $12.6:
Fourth quarter (through December 23, 2C $19.88  $14.3¢

On December 23, 2003, the closing sale miair common stock was $18.87 per share. On Deee®) 2003, there were
approximately 100 record holders and approxima2¢lp0 beneficial owners of our common stock.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Dat:

The following table contains certain financial akrating data and is qualified by the more dedailensolidated financial statements
notes thereto included elsewhere in this report Gdlance sheet data as of September 30, 2002088cdRd the statement of operations data
for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2002 a6d &ere derived from the consolidated financialeshents and notes thereto that have
been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independentifeedtpublic accountants. The balance sheet datd Ssptember 30, 1999, 2000, and
2001 and the statements of operations data fdidta years ended September 30, 1999, 2000, abitl ®ére derived from the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto that hage badited by Arthur Andersen LLP, independentfoedtpublic accountants. The financial
data shown below should be read in conjunction #highconsolidated financial statements and théelaotes thereto and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &w®bults of Operations” included elsewhere in thfort.

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

(Amounts in thousands except share and per share g
Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue $ 450,05¢ $ 550,65 $ 504,07: $ 540,71t $ 607,50:
Cost of sale: 338,40: 419,08( 383,98 416,13 459,72!
Gross profit 111,65! 131,57. 120,08 124,57¢ 147,77.
Selling, general, and administrative
expense: 79,48 92,52( 92,73¢ 95,56 113,29¢
Income from operatior 32,17: 39,05« 27,35: 29,01 34,47:
Interest expense, n 2,04( 4,127 2,39¢ 1,26¢ 2,471
Income before tax provisic 30,13: 34,92] 24,95 27,74¢ 32,00z
Tax provision 11,97¢ 13,53 9,60¢ 10,68: 12,32
Net income $ 18,15! $ 21,39 $  15,34¢ $ 17,06f $ 19,68
| | | | |
Net income per shar
Diluted $ 1.21 $ 1.41 $ 1.01 $ 1.1C $ 1.2¢
.| I .| .| I
Weighted average number of shai
Diluted 14,964,72 15,204,18 15,238,71 15,540,97 15,671,47
| | | | |
Other Data:
Number of retail locations(? 51 52 53 59 65
Sales per store(2)(: $ 12,93¢ $  14,05¢ $ 12,38 $ 12,27 $  11,90(
Same-store sales growth(3)(: 18% 20% (9)% 3% 6%
September 30,
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
Balance Sheet Data
Working capital $ 28,35! $ 40,85! $ 47,447 $5542¢ $ 67,00:
Total asset 235,75: 231,33( 264,49( 301,14¢ 329,15!
Long-term debt (including current portion)( 7,52( 6,28( 8,64( 21,76: 22,34
Total stockholder equity 90,23 112,34( 127,69: 145,19( 166,05¢

(1) Includes only those retail locations open at peend.
(2) Includes only those stores open for the entirequiig 1:- or nine-month period, respectivel
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(3) New and acquired stores are included in the corbpatemse at the end of the s’s thirteenth month of operatior
(4) A store is one or more retail locations that aja@eht or operate as one ent

(5) Amount excludes our shterm borrowings for working capital and inventoiyancing.

ltem 7. Managemen's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiomnd Results of Operations

We are the largest recreational boat retailéine United States with fiscal 2003 revenue eglagy $607 million. Through our current
66 retail locations in 15 states, we sell new asebuecreational boats and related marine produactading engines, trailers, parts, and
accessories. We also arrange related boat finanicisigrance, and extended warranty contracts; geowdat repair and maintenance services;
and offer yacht and boat brokerage services.

MarineMax was incorporated in January 1998&.Nslve significantly expanded our operations thinathg acquisition of 21 recreational
boat dealers, two boat brokerage operations, aadulrservice yacht repair facility since our faation. As a part of our acquisition strategy,
we frequently engage in discussions with varioesaational boat dealers regarding their potentiglsition by us. Potential acquisition
discussions frequently take place over a long pesfdime and involve difficult business integratiand other issues, including in some cé
management succession and related matters. Asllaotthese and other factors, a number of paaéatquisitions that from time to time
appear likely to occur do not result in bindingdeggreements and are not consummated.

During the fiscal year ended September 30320/e completed the acquisition of two recreatidnwat dealers. During September 2003,
we acquired substantially all of the assets andrasd certain liabilities of Killinger Marine Centénc. and Killinger Marine Center of
Alabama, Inc., a privately held boat dealershighvgtcations in Ft. Walton Beach and Pensacolajddand Gulf Shores, Alabama, for
approximately $2.3 million in cash, including acgjtion costs. During June 2003, we acquired sulisthnall of the assets and assumed
certain liabilities of Sundance Marine, Inc., avately held boat dealership with locations in Derased Grand Junction, Colorado, for
approximately $3.3 million in cash, including acgjtion costs. The asset purchase agreement co@taiearn out provision, which will
impact the final purchase price annually, basetherfuture profits of the region through Septen@8, assuming certain conditions and
provisions are met. These acquisitions were acealfior under the purchase method of accounting.

During the fiscal year ended September 3022@e completed the acquisition of two recreatidmoat dealers. During April 2002, we
acquired the net assets, including the owned salésnarina facilities, and assumed certain liabdibf Gulfwind Marine Partners, Inc. and
affiliates, a privately held boat dealership witledtions in Sarasota, Venice, and Cape Haze, Bldiod approximately $16.0 million in cash.
During July 2002, we acquired substantially altted assets and assumed certain liabilities of 8eadarine, Inc., a privately held boat
dealership in San Diego, California, for approxiemat$100,000 in cash, including acquisition co$tsese acquisitions were accounted for
under the purchase method of accounting.

During the fiscal year ended September 3012@e completed the acquisition of a full-serweeht repair facility. We acquired the net
assets, including the assumption of certain liakgdiand related property and buildings, for appmately $5.6 million in cash, including
acquisition costs. The acquisition was accountedifiaer the purchase method of accounting.

We derive our revenue from selling new anedugcreational boats and related marine prodanisnging third-party financing,
insurance, and extended warranty products; progidmat repair and maintenance services; and offér@at and yacht brokerage services.
Revenue from boat or related marine product skt repair and maintenance services, and boatabtt yprokerage services is recognized at
the time the product is delivered to the custorméhe service is completed. Revenue earned byrusfanging financing, insurance, and
extended warranty products is recognized at thee tftcustomer acceptance of the service conteacts as evidenced by contract execution,
or when the related boat sale is recognized.
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Cost of sales generally includes the coshefrecreational boat or other marine product, plusadditional labor, parts, or consumables
used in providing maintenance, repair, and riggiexyices.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

We have identified the policies below asicaitto our business operations and the undersigrafiour results of operations. The impact
and risks related to these policies on our businpssgations is discussed throughout Managemenssussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations when such fgdiaffect our reported and expected financialltesu

In the ordinary course of business, we haadera number of estimates and assumptions relatitig reporting of results of operations
and financial condition in the preparation of omahcial statements in conformity with accountimmgiples generally accepted in the United
States. We base our estimates on historical experiand on various other assumptions that we leeley reasonable under the
circumstances. The results form the basis for ngakidgments about the carrying values of assetdiabitities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results could diffem#figantly from those estimates under differentumsptions and conditions. We believe that
the following discussion addresses our most ctiicaounting policies, which are those that aretrimoportant to the portrayal of our
financial condition and results of operations aaguire our most difficult, subjective, and compjedgments, often as a result of the need to
make estimates about the effect of matters thahherently uncertain.

Revenue Recoghnitio

We recognize revenue from boat, motor, aaitetr sales, and parts and service operationsdtrtte the boat, motor, trailer, or part is
delivered to or accepted by the customer or seiigicempleted. We recognize commissions earned &tmokerage sale at the time the
related brokerage transaction closes. Commissiameed by us for placing notes with financial ingtiins in connection with customer boat
financing are recognized when the related boassaike recognized. Marketing fees earned on criégliticcident and disability, and hull
insurance products sold by third-party insurancaanies are also recognized when the related btmissrecognized. Commissions earned
on extended warranty service contracts sold onlbehtnird-party insurance companies are recoghiaethe later of customer acceptance of
the service contract terms as evidenced by corgsaatution, or when the related boat sale is rezegn

Vendor Consideration Received

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Taskd=(EITF) of the Financial Accounting Standardab(FASB) reached a consensus on
Issue No. 02-16, “Accounting by a Customer (Inahgda Reseller) for Certain Consideration Receivethfa Vendor” (EITF 02-16).
EITF 02-16 establishes the accounting standardhéorecognition and measurement of cash considerphid by a vendor to a reseller.
EITF 02-16 is effective for interim period finank&atements beginning after December 15, 2002, @atly adoption permitted.

In March 2003, the EITF revised certain psowis of its previously reached conclusions on HIZFL6 and provided additional
transitional guidance. EITF 02-16 does not pro¥ataestatement or reclassification of prior yearoaints; rather it requires prospective
application for new agreements or modificationgxisting agreements entered into subsequent torileme31, 2002. We determined that
EITF 02-16 impacts our accounting for certain cdagation received from vendors beginning July D2®ith the renewal of and
amendments to our dealer agreements with the metaoéas of our products. EITF 02-16 most signifitanequires us to classify interest
assistance received from manufacturers as a reduatiinventory cost and related cost of salespg®sed to netting the assistance agains
interest expense incurred with our lenders. We &bBITF 02-16 prospectively for fiscal 2003 durthg quarter ended December 31, 2002.
Had we adopted EITF 02-16 at the beginning of fi2681, the amount of interest assistance that dvbal’e been offset to cost of sales
instead of netted against interest expense would baen approximately $4.4 million, $4.0 milliomda$2.9 million in fiscal 2001, 2002, and
2003, respectively.
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Inventories

New and used boat inventories are stateluedbtver of cost, determined on a specific-idecdifion basis, or market. Parts and accessorie:
are stated at the lower of cost, determined offitstein, first-out basis, or market. If the camgi amount of our inventory exceeds its fair
value, we reduce the carrying amount to reflect\falue. We utilize our historical experience andrent sales trends as the basis for our
lower of cost or market analysis. If events ocautt enarket conditions change, causing the fair viduall below carrying value, further
reductions may be required.

Valuation of Goodwill and Other Intangible Asse

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Stadsl®oard (FASB), issued Statement of Financialododing Standards No. 141, “Business
Combinations” (SFAS 141), and Statement of Findmetaounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Oth@angible Assets” (SFAS 142).
SFAS 141 requires business combinations initiafest dune 30, 2001 to be accounted for using tlel@se method of accounting and that
identifiable intangible assets acquired in a bussrmmbination be recognized as assets and repapedately from goodwill. We have
determined that our only identifiable intangibleets are dealer agreements, which are indefiviégHintangibles. SFAS 142 requires that
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assetslonger be amortized, but instead tested for impantat least annually.

SFAS 142 was effective for fiscal years bagig after December 15, 2001, with early applicapermitted in certain circumstances. We
elected to early adopt SFAS 142 in fiscal 2002. SAA?2 required the completion of a transitionalamment test within six months from the
date of initial adoption of the statement. In aidditto the initial assessment, we assess the impgair of identifiable intangible assets and
goodwill at least annually or whenever events @ngfes in circumstances indicate that the carryalgevmay not be recoverable. If the
carrying amount of an identifiable intangible assegjoodwill exceeds its fair value, we would regizg an impairment loss. We measure any
potential impairment based on various businessatian methodologies, including a projected discedrdash flow method. We completed
the transitional impairment test, which resultec@nimpairment of goodwill or identifiable intandgbassets. We have also completed the
annual impairment test at June 30, 2003, whichltesin no impairment of goodwill or identifiablatangible assets. To date, we have not
recognized any impairment of goodwill or identifialintangible assets in connection with SFAS 142.Will continue to test goodwill and
identifiable intangible assets for impairment asteannually on June 30, or whenever events orggsain circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. Prior toatieption of SFAS 142, all purchase price in exoéske net tangible assets was recorded
as goodwill and no identifiable intangible assetsemecognized. Identifiable intangible assetsratdjoodwill amounted to $4.5 million and
$48.6 million, respectively, as of September 3@320

For a more comprehensive list of our accagngiolicies, including those which involve varyidggrees of judgment, see Note 3 —
“Significant Accounting Policies” of Notes to Cotlisiated Financial Statements.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain fin@i@ata as a percentage of revenue for the peinalisated:

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2001 2002 2003

(Amounts in thousands)

Revenue $504,07: 100.(% $540,71¢ 100.(% $607,50: 100.(%
Cost of sale: 383,98 76.2% 416,13 77.0% 459,72 75.1%
Gross profit 120,08 23.8%  124,57¢ 23.(% 147,77 24.2%
Selling, general, and administrative exper 92,73¢ 18.4% 95,56" 17.1%  113,29¢ 18.7%
Income from operatior 27,35: 5.4% 29,01: 5.3% 34,47: 5.7%
Interest expense, n 2,39¢ 0.4% 1,264 0.2% 2,471 0.4%
Income before tax provisic 24,957 5.C% 27,74¢ 5.1% 32,00: 5.2%
Income tax provisiol 9,60¢ 1.S% 10,68: 2.C% 12,32 2.C%
Net income $ 15,34¢ 3.L% $ 17,06t 3.1% $ 19,68: 3.2%
I I L] I I I

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2003 Compared sz&li Year Ended September 30, 2(

RevenueRevenue increased $66.8 million, or 12.4%, to $&60Tillion for the fiscal year ended September 3M2from $540.7 million
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2002. Bfiticrease, $35.8 million was attributable to esonot eligible for inclusion in the
comparable-store base and $31.0 million was attalile to a 6% growth in comparable-store salegsgaf 2003. The increase in comparable-
store sales in fiscal 2003 resulted primarily fritva timing of certain yacht sales, revenue fromraw product lines, and increased sales of
our finance and insurance, parts, and service gtedu

Gross Profit.Gross profit increased $23.2 million, or 18.6%%$1e7.8 million for the fiscal year ended Septen8@r2003 from
$124.6 million for the fiscal year ended Septen:r2002. Gross profit margin as a percentagewafmee increased to 24.3% in fiscal 2003
from 23.0% in fiscal 2002. This increase was prilpattributable to an increase in finance and rasge, parts and service revenue, which
generally yield higher gross margins than boatssafeaddition, less margin pressure on smalletsalso contributed to the gross profit
increase. This increase was partially offset bynarease in sales of larger boats, which histdsiczdrry lower gross profits.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenstxdlling, general, and administrative expenses asmée $17.7 million, or 18.6%, to
$113.3 million for the fiscal year ended Septen:r2003 from $95.6 million for the fiscal year eddSeptember 30, 2002. Selling, general,
and administrative expenses as a percentage afuevecreased to 18.7% in fiscal 2003 from 17.7%sical 2002. The increase in selling,
general, and administrative expenses as a pereeafagvenue is attributable to additional costoamted with marketing and an increased
level of operations compared to that of the prieary

Interest Expense, Néhterest expense, net increased $1.2 million, dB%5to $2.5 million for the fiscal year ended Sepber 30, 2003
from $1.3 million for fiscal year ended Septemb@y 3002. Interest expense, net as a percentageefue, increased to 0.4% in fiscal 2003
from 0.2% in fiscal 2002. The increase in totaémest charges was the result of increased longtemowings associated with mortgages on
facilities and equipment and the implementatioildfF 02-16, partially offset by a more favorablésirest rate environment.

Income Tax Provisiorincome taxes increased $1.6 million, or 15.3%,1®.3 million for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZiID3 from
$10.7 million for fiscal year ended September 3M2 Our effective tax rate remained constant &8%dn fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002.
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Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2002 Compared tz&li Year Ended September 30, 2(

RevenueRevenue increased $36.6 million, or 7.2%, to $54illion for the fiscal year ended September 3@M26om $504.1 million fc
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001. Of tisiease, $23.1 million was attributable to storsefigible for inclusion in the comparable-
store base and $13.5 million was attributable tog8&tth in comparable-store sales in fiscal 2002. Wlieve the increase in comparable-
store sales in fiscal 2002 resulted primarily froom focus on our core retailing strategies of comtoservice and delivering a family-oriented
boating experience.

Gross Profit.Gross profit increased $4.5 million, or 3.7%, t@%X% million for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZ8D2 from
$120.1 million for the fiscal year ended Septen:r2001. Gross profit margin as a percentagewefmee decreased to 23.0% in fiscal 2002
from 23.8% in fiscal 2001. The decrease was atiite to a proportionate increase in sales of faogats, which historically carry lower
gross profits and downward pressure on the selifeg of our boats due to softer economic and ntarteeditions. This decline was partially
offset by an increase in parts and service revandecommissions/marketing fees received on cefitzmce and insurance products, which
generally yield higher gross margins than boatssale

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenslling, general, and administrative expenses asmé $2.8 million, or 3.1%, to
$95.6 million for the fiscal year ended Septemt®&r2Z)02 from $92.7 million for the fiscal year eddgeptember 30, 2001. Selling, general,
and administrative expenses as a percentage afuewdecreased to 17.7% in fiscal 2002 from 18.4%saal 2001. The decrease in selling,
general, and administrative expenses as a pereenfagvenue is attributable to our cost-containnigtiatives, including workforce
reductions, resulting in a stronger leveragingwf@perating structure and approximately $1.0 omllirom the elimination of goodwill
amortization, which represents the impact of acgp8FAS 142, partially offset by the acquisitionGflfwind Marine, which currently
operates at a lower operating margin than theofestir company.

Interest Expense, Néhterest expense, net decreased $1.1 million, @%.to $1.3 million for the fiscal year ended Sepber 30, 2002
from $2.4 million for fiscal year ended Septemb@y 2001. Interest expense, net as a percentageeiue, decreased to 0.2% in fiscal 2002
from 0.5% in fiscal 2001. The decrease in totatri@st charges was the result of a more favoratgegst rate environment, partially offset by
an increase in long-term borrowings or mortgagasead on new and acquired facilities.

Income Tax Provisiorincome taxes increased $1.1 million, or 11.2%,10.% million for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZ2 from
$9.6 million for fiscal year ended September 3@RMur effective tax rate remained constant &%dn fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001.
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Quarterly Data and Seasonality

The following table sets forth certain unaudite@derly financial data for each of our last eighaigers. The information has been der
from unaudited financial statements that we belieflect all adjustments, consisting only of normesdurring adjustments, necessary for the
fair presentation of such quarterly financial imfation.

The operating results for any quarter areneoessarily indicative of the results to be exgeéor any future period.

December 31, March 31, June 30, September 30, Dedman 31, March 31, June 30, September 30,
2001 2002 2002 2002 2002 2003 2003 2003
(Amounts in thousands except share and per share tg
Revenue $ 100,58! $ 133,79: $ 170,59! $ 135,74. $ 97,97t $ 159,06: $ 187,17: $ 163,29(
Cost of sales 80,87( 106,23: 130,46t 98,56¢ 74,32( 124,82. 143,46¢ 117,11¢
Gross profit 19,71t 27,56: 40,12¢ 37,174 23,65t 34,24: 43,704 46,17:
Selling, general, and
administrative expenses 19,80: 21,85: 27,12¢ 26,78¢ 23,80: 27,37( 29,27¢ 32,84¢
Income (loss) from operatiol (88) 5,70¢ 13,00: 10,38¢ (147) 6,871 14,42¢ 13,32%
Interest expense, N 167 264 47¢ 358 632 21¢€ 682 93¢
Income (loss) before tax
provision (255) 5,44% 12,52 10,03t (780) 6,65¢ 13,74 12,38¢
Tax provision (benefit) 97) 2,09¢ 4,82 3,862 (300) 2,562 5,291 4,76¢
Net income (loss $ (15¢) $ 3,34¢ $ 7,702 $ 6,171 $ (480C) $ 4,09: $ 8,45: $ 7,61¢€
— I — — I —
Net income (loss) per shal
Diluted $ (0.03) $ 02z $ 0.4¢ $ 0.4C $ (0.09) $ 0.2¢ $ 0.54 $ 0.4¢
| | | | | & | |
Weighted average number of
shares
Diluted 15,246,45 15,253,47 15,780,58 15,588,76 15,537,05 15,541,89 15,656,20 15,950,25
| | | | | & | |

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash needs are primarily for working tafb support operations, including new and useat bnd related parts inventories, off-
season liquidity, and growth through acquisitiond aew store openings. These cash needs haveidadiiobeen financed with cash from
operations and borrowings under credit facilit& depend upon dividends and other payments francansolidated operating subsidiaries
to fund our obligations and meet our cash needse@tly, no agreements exist that restrict thisvflaf funds.

For the fiscal years ended September 30,,20002, and 2003, we generated cash flows fromatipgractivities of approximately
$9.6 million, $4.2 million, and $27.1 million, resgtively. In addition to net income, cash providgdoperating activities was due primarily
inventory management, including the managementwaritory financing.

For the fiscal years ended September 30,,20002, and 2003, cash flows used in investing/iiets were approximately $14.4 million,
$22.3 million, and $19.4 million, respectively. Gassed in investing activities was primarily attriible to cash used in business acquisitions
and to purchase property and equipment associatedpening new or improving existing retail fatiés.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 26612002, cash flows provided by financing adgeiapproximated $2.2 million and

$12.4 million, respectively. For the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2003, cash flows used in fingrexitivities approximated $1.5 million.
For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2001
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and 2002, cash flows provided by financing actgtreflect the proceeds from borrowing on long-tdeht and mortgages, which was
partially offset by the repayment of long-term ddtr the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008, esed in financing activities was
primarily attributable to repayments on long-terabd

As of September 30, 2003, our indebtedneasatetb approximately $119.3 million, of which appiraately $22.3 million was associated
with our real estate holdings and $97.0 million wasociated with financing our inventory and wogk@apital needs.

In December 2001, we entered into a revoleirgglit facility that provides a line of credit Wiasset-based borrowing availability of up to
$220 million. The facility also allows us $20 milii in traditional floorplan borrowings. The fagilitwhich has a three-year term with two
one-year renewal options, replaces four separaeoli credit facilities. In November 2002, we exsed one of the two one-year renewal
options, which the bank approved, extending theaunitgtdate to December 2005. The facility accruderiest at a rate of LIBOR plus 175 to
260 basis points, which is determined in accordavittea Performance Pricing grid, as defined in¢hetit facility. Borrowings under the
facility are pursuant to a borrowing base formuid are used primarily for working capital and intay financing. The terms and conditions
of the facility are similar to the terms and coiudit of the prior separate line of credit faciktie

During the fiscal years ended September 80122002, and 2003, we completed the acquisitidive marine retail operations. We
acquired the net assets, related property, andibgé and assumed or retired certain liabilitiasluiding the outstanding floorplan obligations
related to new boat inventories, for approximagy.3 million in cash, including acquisition costs.

Except as specified in this “Management’scDgsion and Analysis of Financial Condition, and s of Operations” and in our
consolidated financial statements, we have no mehtymmitments for capital for the next 12 mont& believe that our existing capital
resources will be sufficient to finance our opemasi for at least the next 12 months, except fosiptes significant acquisitions.

Contractual Commitments and Commercial Commitments

The following table sets forth a summary of material contractual obligations and commerctmhmitments as of September 30, 2003:

Year Ending Line of Long-Term Operating
September 30, Credit Debt Leases Total

(Amounts in thousands)

2004 $97,00( $ 2,344 $ 5,92¢ $105,27:
2005 — 2,45¢ 4,28: 6,73¢
2006 — 2,567 3,667 6,23¢
2007 — 2,57¢ 3,421 6,00(
2008 — 2,50¢ 2,531 5,04(
Thereaftel 9,891 1,142 11,03:
Total $97,00( $22,34: $20,97: $140,31¢

[ | [ | [ | |

ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

At September 30, 2003, approximately 88%uwofshort- and long-term debt bears interest abbégirates, generally tied to a reference
rate such as the LIBOR rate or the prime rate tef@st of certain banks. Changes in interest @tdsans from these financial institutions
could affect our earnings due to interest ratesggthon certain underlying obligations that ar@alde. At September 30, 2003, a hypothe
100 basis point increase in interest rates on atiable rate obligations would result in an inceeabapproximately $1.1 million in annual
pre-tax interest expense. This estimated increaased upon the outstanding balances of all ovarigble rate obligations and assumes no
mitigating changes by management to reduce theamaling balances due to the hypothetical intesgstincrease.
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Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Dz

Reference is made to the financial statemémtsnotes thereto, and the report thereon, coromgion page F-1 of this report, which
financial statement, notes, and report are incatgdrherein by reference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedure

We have evaluated, with the participatiomaif Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial ioffr, the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of September 30, 20@¥don this evaluation, our Chief Executive Offaed Chief Financial Officer have ez
concluded that our disclosure controls and proesiare effective to ensure that we record, prosessmarize, and report information
required to be disclosed by us in our quarterhprepfiled under the Securities Exchange Act withia time periods specified by the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules andgoBuring the fiscal year covered by this repdréré have not been any changes in our
internal controls over financial reporting that hawaterially affected, or its reasonably likelymaterially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

Subsequent to the date of their evaluatiogret have not been any significant changes inrdarnal controls or in other facts that could
significantly affect these controls, including asgrrective action with regard to significant deficties and material weaknesses.

PART IlI

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrs

The information required by this Item relatito our directors is incorporated herein by refeeeto the definitive Proxy Statement to be
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchangé f&c our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Tihf®rmation required by this Item
relating to our executive officers included in “Busss — Executive Officers.”

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatio

The information required by this Item is ingorated herein by reference to the definitive BrBtatement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2004 AahMeeting of Stockholders.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners ahMbBnagement and Related Stockholder Mattt

The information required by this Item is ingorated herein by reference to the definitive BrBtatement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2004 AahMeeting of Stockholders.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item is ingorated herein by reference to the definitive BrBtatement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2004 AahMeeting of Stockholders.

ltem 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Servict

The information required by this Item is ingorated herein by reference to the definitive Rriatement to be filled pursuant to
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2004 AahMeeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Rego@n Form &K

(a) Financial Statements and Financial Statement &edules

(1) Financial Statements are listed in the Inde€dasolidated Financial Statements on page F-Aigtéport.

(2) No financial statement schedules are includszhbse such schedules are not applicable, aresuited, or because required
information is included in the consolidated finalatatements or notes there

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

Current Report on Form R-dated July 24, 2003, indicated in Item 9, thespnelease issued by MarineMax, Inc. dated Julp@@d3
reporting the financial results of its third quardé fiscal 2003 and its ye-to-date results

(c) Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Exhibit
31 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist, including all amendments to date
32 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registral
33 Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Rapiating Preferred Stock(
4.1 Specimen of Common Stock Certificate
4.2 Rights Agreement, dated August 28, 2001 betweersRagt and American Stock Transfer & Trust CompasyRights

Agent(3)

10.1(a) Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adgqrissubsidiary and Bassett Boat Company of Floaidd Richard
Bassett(1

10.1(b) Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adiqrissubsidiary and 11502 Dumas, Inc. d/b/a LousHdmme
Marine and its stockholders(

10.1(c) Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adeprissubsidiary and Gulfwind USA, Inc. and its stbolders(1)

10.1(d) Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adgprissubsidiary and Gulfwind South, Inc. and itscgholders(1

10.1(e) Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adeprissubsidiary and Harrison’s Boat Center, Ind ds
stockholders(1

10.1(f) Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adgprissubsidiary and Harrison’s Marine Centers afzéna, Inc. and
its stockholders(1

10.1(g) Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adiqrissubsidiary and Stovall Marine, Inc. and itsckholders(1

10.1(h) Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganizationdlateof the 7th day of July, 1998 by and among iM#Miiax, Inc., (
& N Acquisition Corp. (a subsidiary of MarineMaxd.), C & N Marine Corporation and the Stockholdeasned
therein(2)

10.1(i) Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganizationdlateof the 7th day of July, 1998 by and among iiiax, Inc.,
Cochrans Acquisition Corp. (a subsidiary of Marireeiinc.), Cochrans Marine, Inc. and the Stockhsldemed
therein(2)

10.1() Asset Purchase Agreement between Registrant ascdne Cove Marina, Inc.(

10.2(a) Contribution Agreement between Registrant and BaBsat Company and its owner(

10.2(b) Contribution Agreement between Registrant and BaRsmalty, L.L.C. and its owner(:
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit

10.2(c) Contribution Agreement between Registrant and Gatiwsouth Realty, L.L.C. and its owners
10.2(d) Contribution Agreement between Registrant and dar's Realty, L.L.C. and its owners(

10.2(e) Contribution Agreement between Registrant and dar's Realty California, L.L.C. and its owners
10.3(e) Employment Agreement between Registrant and Daviddchran(4

10.3(f) Employment Agreement between Registrant and WillianMcGill Jr.(9)

10.3(g) Employment Agreement between Registrant and MicHadcLamb(9)

104 1998 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended through Nbeeitb, 2000(8

105 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plai

10.6 Settlement Agreement between Brunswick Corporadiwh Registrant(1

10.7 Letter of Intent between Registrant and Stova

10.8 Restated Agreement Relating to the Purchase ofridistax Common Stock between Registrant and Brunswick
Corporation, dated as of April 28, 1998

109 Stockholders’ Agreement among Registrant, Brunswiokporation, and Senior Founders of Registranediapril 28,
1998(1)

10.10 Governance Agreement between Registrant and Brekg@orporation, dated April 28, 1998(

10.11 Agreement Relating to Acquisitions between Regigteend Brunswick Corporation, dated April 28, 199¢

10.12 Form of Sea Ray Sales and Service Agreeme

10.17 Credit and Security Agreement dated as of Decerb®eP001 among the Registrant and its subsidiaa®8orrowers,
and Banc of America Specialty Finance, Inc. andousrother lenders, as Lenders

21 List of Subsidiarie:

231 Consent of Ernst & Young LL

23.2 Notice regarding consent of Arthur Andersen L

311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 13d{a), promulgated under the Securi
Exchange Act of 1934, as amend

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgatettuthe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amend

321 Certification pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350, dgpéed pursuant to Section 906 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 2002

(1) Incorporated by reference to Registration Stateroaritorm -1 (Registration 33-47873).

(2) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Current Report on Forn-K dated July 7, 1998, as filed on July 20, 1¢

(3) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form {-K Report dated September 30, 1998, as filed onligctd0, 1998

(4) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-K for the year ended September 30, 1998, as fieD@cember 9, 199
(5) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1i-K for the year ended September 30, 1999, as fieBDecember 29 199
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(6)
@)
®)
)

Incorporated by reference to Registration Staterapriorm A as filed on September 5, 20(

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-K for the year ended September 30, 2001, as fieBecember 20, 200
Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 288Tiled on February 14, 20(
Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2883iled on February 14, 20(
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 185¢d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, rdwstrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized.

MARINEMAX, INC.

/s/ WILLIAM H. MCGILL JR.

WILLIAM H. MCGILL JR.
Chairman of the Board, President, and

Chief Executive Office
Date: December 29, 2003

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secariichange Act of 1934, this report has been sitpedmlv by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacity and on thlieslimdicated.

Signature Capacity Date
/s/ WILLIAM H. MCGILL JR. Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief December 29,
Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) 2003
William H. McGill Jr.
/s MICHAEL H. MCLAMB Executive Vice President, Chief Financial December 29,
Officer, Secretary, and Director (Principal 2003
Michael H. McLamk Accounting and Financial Officer)
/s/ ROBERT D. BASHAM Director December 29,
2003
Robert D. Bashar
/sl GERALD M. BENSTOCK Director December 29,
2003
Gerald M. Benstoc
/s/ JOHN B. FURMAN Director December 29,
2003
John B. Furmal
/sl ROBERT S. KANT Director December 29,
2003
Robert S. Kan
/sl DEAN S. WOODMAN Director December 29,
2003

Dean S. Woodma
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Board of Directors and Stockholders
MarineMax, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidad¢ahce sheets of MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiasesf September 30, 2002 and 2003,
and the related consolidated statements of opemstgtockholders’ equity, and cash flows for eacthe two years in the period ended
September 30, 2003. These financial statementham@sponsibility of the Company’s management. @sponsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omuwdits. The financial statements of MarineMax, foc.the year ended September 30, 2001
were audited by other auditors who have ceasedtipes and whose report dated October 18, 200Xesged an unqualified opinion on
those statements.

We conducted our audits in accordance withiteng standards generally accepted in the UnitiadeS. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonablerasse about whether the financial statementsraeedf material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgghe amounts and disclosures in the finarsteements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well asatirgj the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesaonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements nefd to above present fairly, in all material regpethe consolidated financial position of
MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries at September 8022and 2003, and the consolidated results of tperations and their cash flows for e
of the two years in the period ended Septembe2@03, in conformity with accounting principles geaily accepted in the United States.

As discussed above, the financial statemafnitéarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries for the yeadehSeptember 30, 2001, were audited by
other auditors who have ceased operations. Asitlescin Note 7, the 2001 financial statements Heean revised to include the transitional
disclosures required by Statement of Financial Aotiog Standards (Statement) No. 142, Goodwill @titer Intangible Assets, which was
adopted by the Company as of October 1, 2001. @dit procedures with respect to the disclosurddate 7 with respect to 2001 included
(a) agreeing the previously reported net incomegpreviously issued financial statements andatjestments to reported net income
representing amortization expense (including afated tax effects) recognized in that period relategoodwill that is no longer being
amortized to the Company’s underlying records olg@difrom management, and (b) testing the matheataticuracy of the reconciliation of
adjusted net income to reported net income, andelaged earnings-per-share amounts. In our opijrtiendisclosures for 2001 in Note 7 are
appropriate and have been properly applied. Howewemere not engaged to audit, review, or apply@ocedures to the 2001 financial
statements of the Company other than with respesti¢h disclosures and, accordingly, we do notesgan opinion or any other form of
assurance on the 2001 financial statements takamé®le.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Tampa, Florida,
October 17, 2003
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

THIS REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNNTS IS A COPY OF A REPORT PREVIOUSLY ISSUED BY
ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP AND HAS NOT BEEN REISSUED BY ARHUR ANDERSEN LLP.

To MarineMax, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidasédmhce sheets of MarineMax, Inc. (a Delaware @@rpn) and subsidiaries as of
September 30, 2000 and 2001, and the related ¢dataal statements of operations, stockholders’tga@uid cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended September 30, 2001. Tmeseial statements are the responsibility of @lmnpan’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance withiteng standards generally accepted in the UnitiadeS. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonablaerasse about whether the financial statementsraeedf material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgadhe amounts and disclosures in the finarstatiements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well asatirgj the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesgonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements nefd to above present fairly, in all material redpethe financial position of MarineMax, Inc.
and subsidiaries as of September 30, 2000 and 20@1the results of their operations and their ¢asts for each of the three years in the
period ended September 30, 2001, in conformity wittounting principles generally accepted in théddinStates.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Tampa, Florida,
October 18, 2001
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands except share and per shéa da

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories, ne
Prepaids and other current as:
Current deferred tax ass

Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Gooduwill and other intangible assets,
Other lon¢-term asset

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payabl
Customer deposi
Accrued expense
Shor-term borrowings
Current maturities of lor-term debit

Total current liabilities
Other liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current maturiti

Total liabilities

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

STOCKHOLDERY¢ EQUITY:

Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 1,000,000 shart®rized, none issued
outstanding at September 30, 2002 and 2

Common stock, $.001 par value; 24,000,000 shatt®azed, 15,285,704
and 15,401,686 shares issued and outstanding terSiegr 30, 2002 and
2003, respectivel

Additional paic-in capital

Retained earning

Treasury stock, at cost, 2,349 shares held at Séete30, 200:

Total stockholdel equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes.
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September 30, September 30,
2002 2003
$ 4,32¢ $ 10,50¢

14,26¢ 21,757
164,12: 165,38:
3,61: 4,127
21Z 1,52¢
186,53t 203,30:
64,01¢ 71,89¢
49,58¢ 53,14+
1,00¢ 81C
$301,14¢ $329,15!
— —

" EQUITY

$ 9,28 $ 12,40:
9,14¢ 9,92¢
15,77: 14,62¢
95,00( 97,00(
1,90¢ 2,34¢
131,11 136,29¢
50z —
4,48¢ 6,801
19,85 19,99¢
155,95¢ 163,09¢
15 15
64,03 65,23¢
81,15¢ 100,80t
(18) —
145,19( 166,05¢
$301,14¢ $329,15!
— —




Revenue
Cost of sale!

Gross profi

Selling, general, and administrative exper

Income from operation
Interest expense, n

Income before income tax
Income tax provisiol

Net income

Basic net income per common sh
Diluted net income per common shi

Weighted average number of common shares used in
computing net income per common shi

Basic

Diluted

MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

For the Year

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands except share and per shéag da

For the Year

For the Year

Ended Ended Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30,
2001 2002 2003
$ 504,07: $ 540,71t 607,50:
383,98« 416,13 459,72¢
120,08 124,57¢ 147,77
92,73¢ 95,56 113,29¢
27,35 29,01: 34,47:
2,39¢ 1,26¢ 2,471
24,95 27,74¢ 32,00z
9,60¢ 10,68: 12,32
$ 15,34¢ $ 17,06¢ $ 19,68:
I I
$ 1.01 $ 1.1z $ 1.2¢
I

$ 1.0

—_

15,220,32
.|

15,238,71
L]

See accompanying notes.
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$ 11

(an)

15,270,82
.|

15,540,97
L]

$ 1.2

™

15,337,87
.|

15,671,47
—




BALANCE, September 30, 20(

Net income

Purchase of treasury sto
Issuance of treasury sto
Issuance of common sto

BALANCE, September 30, 20(

Net income
Issuance of treasury sto
Issuance of common sto

BALANCE, September 30, 20(

Net income

Purchase of treasury sto
Issuance of treasury sto
Issuance of common sto

BALANCE, September 30, 20(

MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Amounts in thousands except share data)

Common Stock Additional Total
Paid-in Retained Treasury Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Stock Equity
15,221,78  $ 15 $63,57: $ 48,75: $ — $112,34(
— — — 15,34¢ — 15,34¢
(81,419 — — — (501) (501)
25,66¢ — 5 (12) 157 151
55,34 — 354 — — 354
15,221,37 15 63,93 64,09: (3449) 127,69:
— — — 17,06¢ — 17,06¢
53,39¢ — (5) — 32¢ 321
10,93( — 111 — — 111
15,285,70. 15 64,03] 81,15¢ (18) 145,19(
— — — 19,68: — 19,68:
(15,000 — — — (134 (1349
17,34¢ — — (32) 152 121
113,63¢ — 1,19¢ — — 1,19¢
15,401,68 $ 15 $65,23¢ $100,80¢ $ — $166,05¢
I — — — — —

See accompanying notes.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)

For the Year For the Year For the Year
Ended Ended Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30,
2001 2002 2003
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 15,34¢ $ 17,06t $ 19,68:
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by
operating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,98¢ 3,614 4,44(
Deferred income tax provisic 1,092 1,57C 1,001
Gain on sale of property and equipm (30 (70 (29
Other 144 80 27¢
(Increase) decrease—
Accounts receivabl 6,231 (290 (7,35€)
Inventories (32,879 3,531 8,30¢
Prepaids and other ass 1,80z (2,319 14¢
Increase (decrease)—
Accounts payabl (94%) (1,68)) 3,02t
Customer deposit (8,827 1,967 732
Accrued expenses and other liabilit (2,199 (3649) (1,89%)
Shor-term borrowings 25,90( (18,947 (1,18¢)
Net cash provided by operating activit 9,63: 4,162 27,14:
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash used in business acquisitions, net of caghrack (5,58%) (15,027 (20,71¢)
Purchases of property and equipm (8,940 (7,516 (8,98¢)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn 86 287 25¢
Net cash used in investing activit| (14,439 (22,25) (19,446
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of common sto 361 352 1,04¢
Borrowings on lon-term deb 3,18¢ 13,10( —
Repayments on loi-term debt (82€) (1,037 (2,422)
Purchase of treasury sto (507) — (139
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 2,22 12,41* (1,519
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CAS
EQUIVALENTS: (2,586¢) (5,679 6,18t
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric 12,58: 9,997 4,32z
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio $ 9,997 $ 4,32 $ 10,50¢
I I |
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING
AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Assumption of debt (primarily inventory financinig)conjunction
with businesses acquired and the purchase of gyoped
equipmen $ — $ 17,00t $ 3,00(

See accompanying notes.

F-7




MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Company Background and Basis of Presentation

We were incorporated in Delaware in Janu&98] and are the largest recreational boat retailgre United States. We engage primarily
in the retail sale, brokerage, and service of netwsed boats, motors, trailers, marine parts aaodssories. As of September 30, 2003, we
operated through 65 retail locations in 15 statessisting of Alabama, Arizona, California, Colooadelaware, Florida, Georgia, Minnesc
Nevada, New Jersey, North Carolina, Ohio, Souttola, Texas, and Utal

We are the natioslargest retailer of Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, Manidand Hatteras Yachts, all of which are manufact by Brunswic
Corporation (Brunswick), the world’s largest maraiémer of marine products. Sales of new Brunswicitb (including Hatteras Yachts,
which Brunswick acquired in November 2001) accodrite approximately 70%, 65%, and 65% of our rexeemufiscal 2001, 2002, and
2003, respectively. We believe we represented appedely 10% of all Brunswick marine product satiesing the same periods.

We have entered into dealership agreemeittsS@a Ray, Boston Whaler, Meridian, Hatteras YadWiercury Marine, and Baja Marine
Corporation, all subsidiaries or divisions of Brwisk. These agreements allow us to purchase, statlikand service Brunswick boats and
products. These agreements also allow us to ugesidiok’s names, trade symbols, and intellectuaperties in our operations.

Each of our operating dealership subsidighiascarry the Sea Ray product line is a party toultiyyear dealer agreement with Brunsw
covering Sea Ray products, expiring beginning i@&@&nd is the exclusive dealer of Sea Ray boats geographic markets. Our subsidiary,
MarineMax Motor Yachts, LLC, is a party to a deagreement with Hatteras Yachts. The agreemens gisehe right to sell Hatteras Yac
throughout the state of Florida (excluding the ilaiPanhandle) and the state of Texas, as wellead 1S. distribution rights for Hatteras
products over 82 feet.

As is typical in the industry, we deal wittanufacturers, other than the Sea Ray division ahBwick, under renewable annual dealer
agreements, each of which gives us the right foragbus makes and models of boats within a giyeographic region. Any change or
termination of these agreements for any reasofudimg changes in competitive, regulatory, or mérigepractices, including rebate or
incentive programs, could adversely affect our ltesaf operations. Although there are a limited tn@mof manufacturers of the type of boats
and products that we sell, we believe that othppers could provide similar boats and product€omparable terms. A change in suppliers,
however, could cause a loss of revenue, which wafi&tt operating results adversely.

The consolidated financial statements inclodieaccounts and the accounts of our subsidiaiksf which are wholly owned. All
significant intercompany transactions and accohat® been eliminated.

2. Acquisitions

We have significantly expanded our operatibmsugh the acquisition of 20 recreational boatlels, two boat brokerage operations, and
one fullservice yacht repair facility since our formatiéws a part of our acquisition strategy, we frequeetigage in discussions with varic
recreational boat dealers regarding their poteatiguisition by us. Potential acquisition discussifrequently take place over a long perio
time and involve difficult business integration astter issues, including, in some cases, managesnenéssion and related matters. As a
result of these and other factors, a number ofrpiiaieacquisitions that from time to time appeéely to occur do not result in binding legal
agreements and are not consummated. The followmtha acquisitions we have completed during tleesyending September 30, 2001,
2002, and 2003.

In January 2001, we acquired the net as$&tssmciated Marine Technologies, Inc. (Associatajluding the assumption of certain
liabilities and related property and buildings, &aproximately $5.6 million in cash, including aggition costs. Associated operates a full-
service yacht repair facility near

F-8




MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Ft. Lauderdale, Florida. The acquisition allowsabetter serve our Hatteras and yacht customées a€quisition was accounted for under
the purchase method of accounting, which resuitatlé recognition of approximately $2.3 milliongoodwill. Associated has been included
in our consolidated financial statements sincedidite of acquisition.

In April 2002, we acquired the net asset&offwind Marine Partners, Inc. and Affiliates (Quihd), including related property and
buildings, for approximately $16.0 million in cashcluding acquisition costs, and assumed certabilities. Gulfwind operates sales and
service facilities located in Sarasota, Venice, @age Haze, Florida. Gulfwind generated approxiip&®60.0 million of revenue in its last
completed fiscal year prior to the acquisition, #mel acquisition expanded our ability to serve comsrs in the west Florida boating
community. The acquisition was accounted for urtderpurchase method of accounting, which basedioindial valuation resulted in the
recognition of approximately $6.2 million in goodlvincluding acquisition costs, and approximat®8:3 million in indefinite-lived
intangible assets (primarily dealer agreementsjiwid has been included in our consolidated firiahstatements since the date of
acquisition.

In July 2002, we purchased inventory andaterequipment from the previous San Diego-based=ageadealer (San Diego) for
approximately $100,000 in cash, including acquisittosts, and assumed certain liabilities. The ia@tipn was accounted for under the
purchase method of accounting, which based onnitialivaluation resulted in the recognition of apgmately $100,000 in goodwill,
including acquisition costs. This purchase enhamegdbility to serve consumers in the western éthitates. San Diego has been included
in our consolidated financial statements sincedtite of acquisition.

In June 2003, we acquired substantiallyredldassets and assumed certain liabilities of Surediarine, Inc., a privately held boat
dealership with locations in Denver and Grand Jong¢iColorado, for approximately $3.3 million insta including acquisition costs. The
acquisition was accounted for under the purchagbadeof accounting, which based on our initial ion resulted in the recognition of
approximately $1.7 million in goodwill, includingquisition costs, and approximately $900,000 irefirdte-ived intangible assets (primar
dealer agreements). The acquisition expands olityabi serve consumers in the western United Sthteting community. The asset
purchase agreement contains an earn out provistach will impact the final purchase price annuabiased on the future profits of the
region through September 2008, assuming certaiditons and provisions are met. Sundance Marinebkas included in our condensed
consolidated financial statements since the dategidisition.

In September 2003, we acquired substant#illgf the assets and assumed certain liabilitfdsilbnger Marine Center, Inc. and Killinger
Marine Center of Alabama, Inc., a privately heldbdealership with locations in Ft. Walton BeacH Bensacola, Florida and Gulf Shores,
Alabama, for approximately $2.3 million in cash;lirding acquisition costs. The acquisition was aated for under the purchase method of
accounting, which based on our initial valuatiosuléed in the recognition of approximately $600,@®@oodwill, including acquisition costs,
and approximately $300,000 in indefinite-lived mgéble assets (primarily dealer agreements). Theiaition expands our ability to serve
consumers in the Alabama and Florida panhandlérigpabmmunities. Killinger Marine has been includedur condensed consolidated
financial statements since the date of acquisition.

The unaudited pro forma results of operatenespresented for informational purposes only. Tieudited pro forma results of operations
include an adjustment to record income taxes #geisignificant acquisitions were taxed as C cafions from the beginning of the period
presented until their respective acquisition daté& unaudited pro forma results of operationsatdanclude adjustments to remove certain
private company expenses, which will not be inaliirefuture periods. The unaudited pro forma resoftoperations may not necessarily
reflect our future results of operations or what tesults of operations would have been had we dwand operated these businesses as of the
beginning of the period presented.
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Our unaudited pro forma consolidated resaflisperations, assuming all significant fiscal 2@@2uisitions accounted for under the
purchase method of accounting had occurred atabambing of each period presented, are as foll@wshie fiscal years ended September 30,
2001 and 2002:

2001 2002

(Unaudited)
(Amounts in thousands
except earnings per

share)
Revenue $567,40:. $566,03¢
Net income $ 16,40( $ 17,13¢
Basic earnings per she $ 1.0¢ $ 1.1z
Diluted earnings per sha $ 1.0¢ $ 1.1

Pro forma results of operations have not lersented with respect to any of the fiscal 2002003 acquisitions, as the effects of those
acquisitions were not significant on either anwlial or an aggregate basis in the related adqrisyear.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

Statements of Cash Flow

For purposes of the consolidated statemdrdash flows, we consider all highly liquid investns with an original maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.

We made interest payments of approximatel¢ dllion, $1.3 million, and $2.5 million for thfiscal years ended September 30, 2001,
2002, and 2003, respectively, including interestieht to finance our real estate holdings and neat imventory, net of interest assistance
provided by manufacturers during fiscal 2001 and2@&nd through the third quarter of fiscal 2008ribg the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003,
we accounted for interest assistance provided byufaaturers in accordance with EITF 08; which most significantly requires us to clag
interest assistance received from manufactureasraduction of inventory cost and related costabdésas opposed to netting the assistance
against our interest expense incurred with ourdend

We made income tax payments of approxim&i8lg million, $7.5 million, and $9.1 million for ¢hfiscal years ended September 30,
2001, 2002, and 2003, respectively.

Inventories

New and used boat, motor, and trailer inveesoare stated at the lower of cost, determined specific-identification basis, or market.
Parts and accessories are stated at the lowestfdsiermined on the first-in, first-out basispmarket. Based on the agings of the inventories
and our consideration of current market trendsmatain a valuation allowance, which was not mat¢o the consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole as of September 3R,2@®D03.
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Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are recorded at nesipf accumulated depreciation, and are depreta@ter their estimated useful lives using
the straight-line method. Useful lives for purposésomputing depreciation are as follows:

Years
Buildings and improvemen 5-40
Machinery and equipme 5-10
Furniture and fixture 5-10
Vehicles 5

The cost of property and equipment sold tira@ and the related accumulated depreciatiomear®ved from the accounts at the time of
disposition, and any resulting gain or loss isudeld in the consolidated statements of operatdamtenance, repairs and minor
replacements are charged to operations as incungdr replacements and improvements are capithfinel amortized over their useful liv

Goodwill and Other Intangible Asse

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Stadsi®oard (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Aotimg Standards No. 141, “Business
Combinations” (SFAS 141), and Statement of Findetaounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Oth@angible Assets” (SFAS 142).
SFAS 141 requires business combinations initiafet dune 30, 2001 to be accounted for using tliehmse method of accounting and that
identifiable intangible assets acquired in a bussrm®mbination be recognized as assets and reapadately from goodwill. We have
determined that our only identifiable intangiblsets are dealer agreements, which are indefinviggtintangibles. SFAS 142 requires that
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assetslonger be amortized, but instead tested for impantat least annually.

SFAS 142 was effective for fiscal years bagig after December 15, 2001, with early applicapermitted in certain circumstances. We
elected to early adopt SFAS 142 in fiscal 2002. SBA?2 required the completion of a transitionalamment test within six months from the
date of initial adoption of the statement. In aidditto the initial assessment, we assess the impgair of identifiable intangible assets and
goodwill at least annually or whenever events @ngfes in circumstances indicate that the carryalgevmay not be recoverable. If the
carrying amount of an identifiable intangible assegjoodwill exceeds its fair value, we would regizg an impairment loss. We measure any
potential impairment based on various businessatiain methodologies, including a projected discedrtash flow method. We completed
the transitional impairment test, which resultecnimpairment of goodwill or identifiable intand¢gbassets. We have also completed the
annual impairment test at June 30, 2003, whichltesin no impairment of goodwill or identifiablatangible assets. To date, we have not
recognized any impairment of goodwill or identifi@alintangible assets in connection with SFAS 142. WMl continue to test goodwill and
identifiable intangible assets for impairment atsteannually on June 30, or whenever events orggsain circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 142, all pussharice in excess of the net tangible assets ecasded as goodwill and amortized over
40 years on a straight-line basis. No identifidbtangible assets were recognized. For the fiseat gnded September 30, 2001, goodwill
amortization expense was approximately $1.0 milliimere was no amortization expense for the figeats ended September 30, 2002 and
2003. Accumulated amortization of goodwill was apgmately $2.6 million at September 30, 2002 an@320
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Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assett

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards M4, “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal ajrig-Lived Assets” (SFAS 144),
requires that long-lived assets, such as propedyeguipment and purchased intangibles subjeantwtization, be reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances irdibat the carrying amount of an asset may notbeverable. Recoverability of the asset
is measured by comparison of its carrying amouniniscounted future net cash flows the assetpe&®d to generate. If such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to begeized is measured as the amount by which thgingramount of the asset exceeds its
fair market value. Estimates of expected futurdndbmsvs represent management’s best estimate masedrrently available information and
reasonable and supportable assumptions. Any impairnecognized in accordance with SFAS 144 is peemizand may not be restored. To
date, we have not recognized any impairment of-lorggl assets in connection with SFAS 144.

Customer Deposit

Customer deposits primarily include amoueteived from customers toward the purchase of béd&tsrecognize these deposits as
revenue upon delivery of the related boats to costs.

Revenue Recognitio

We recognize revenue from boat, motor, aaitetrsales and parts and service operations aintleethe boat, motor, trailer, or part is
delivered to or accepted by the customer or sefisicempleted. We recognize commissions earned &dmokerage sale at the time the
related brokerage transaction closes. We recogoiaamissions earned by us for placing notes witarfaial institutions in connection with
customer boat financing when the related boatisakcognized. We also recognize marketing feesegbon credit life, accident and
disability, and hull insurance products sold bydkparty insurance companies when the related saiatis recognized. Pursuant to negotiated
agreements with financial and insurance institigjame are charged back for a portion of thesedbesld the customer terminate or default
on the related finance or insurance contract befaseoutstanding for a stipulated minimal perfdime. The chargeback allowance, which
was not material to the consolidated financialestents taken as a whole as of September 30, 200208, is based on our experience with
repayments or defaults on the related financesurance contracts.

We also recognize commissions earned on datbwarranty service contracts sold on behalfiofltparty insurance companies at the
later of customer acceptance of the service canteans as evidenced by contract execution, orgmition of the related boat sale. We are
charged back for a portion of these commissionsiighihe customer terminate or default on the sere@ntract prior to its scheduled
maturity. The chargeback allowance, which was natienial to the consolidated financial statemerkeniaas a whole as of September 30,
2002 or 2003, is based upon our experience witAymaents or defaults on the service contracts.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation pladser Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 2s;counting for Stock Issued to
Employees” (APB 25), under which no compensatiost bas been recognized in these financial statem8tatement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for St®&sed Compensation” (SFAS 123), allows companieshtinue following the
accounting guidance of APB 25, but requires pronfodisclosure of net income and earnings per gbatbe effects on compensation
expense had the fair value method of accountingtfuork options been adopted. For SFAS 123 purptsesair value of each option grant
has been estimated as of the date of grant usenBlttk-Scholes option-pricing model. In March 2088 adopted the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accouritasndards No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Censation — Transitions and
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Disclosure” (SFAS 148). Under SFAS 148, the prarfadisclosures of stock-based compensation, he fair value method had been used,
are required in both annual and interim financiatesments.

Had compensation cost been determined ubaépir value method described in SFAS 123, ouimegime and net income per share, as
reported would have been the following for thedisgears ended September 30, 2001, 2002, and 2003:

2001 2002 2003

(Amounts in thousands except
earnings per share)

Net income as reporte $15,34¢ $17,06¢ $19,68:
Compensation cost, net of related tax effi $ 2,18¢ $ 691 $ 1,108
Pro forma net incom $13,16: $16,37¢ $18,57¢

| | I

Diluted earnings per shar

As reportec $ 1.01 $ 1.1C $ 1.2¢
| | |
Pro forma $ 0.8¢ $ 1.0 $ 1.21
| | I

See Note 12 — “Stock Option and Purchases”fam further discussion and assumptions usedtoutate the above pro forma
information.

Advertising and Promotional Cos!

Advertising and promotional costs are expdraseincurred and are included in selling, genarad, administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatiatal advertising and promotional expenses, netlated co-op assistance,
approximated $4.9 million, $7.0 million and $8.3lfan for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2@002, and 2003, respectively.

Concentrations of Credit Ris

Financial instruments, which potentially sdijus to concentrations of credit risk, consistgipally of cash and cash equivalents and
accounts receivable. Concentrations of creditwigk respect to cash and cash equivalents aredihmtimarily to financial institutions.
Concentrations of credit risk arising from receiesbare limited primarily to manufacturers and fioial institutions.

New Accounting Pronouncemen

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Taskd=(EITF) of the Financial Accounting Standardab(FASB) reached a consensus on
Issue No. 02-16, “Accounting by a Customer (Inahgdé Reseller) for Certain Consideration Receivethfa Vendor” (EITF 02-16). EITF
02-16 establishes the accounting standards farettegnition and measurement of cash considerati@hlyy a vendor to a reseller. The
consensus, which was modified in March 2003, relisrtain provisions of its previously reached dosions and provided additional
transitional guidance. EITF 02-16 does not pro¥ataestatement or reclassification of prior yeanroaints; rather it requires prospective
application for new agreements or modificationsxtisting agreements entered into subsequent torbleee31, 2002. EITF 02-16 is effective
for interim period financial statements beginnifigaDecember 15, 2002, with early adoption pemmitiVe adopted EITF 02-16 during the
quarter ended December 31, 2002. We determinedeti&t 02-16 impacts our accounting for certain édesation received from vendors
beginning July 1, 2003 with the renewal of and admeents to our dealer agreements with the manufarstof our products. The adoption of
this standard did not have a material impact oncousolidated financial statements.
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In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Taskd-(EITF) of the Financial Accounting Standardab(FASB) reached a consensus on
Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements With Mutipkeliverables” (EITF 00-21). EITF 00-21 providasdance for determining the unit
(s) of accounting in arrangements that include iplelproducts, services, and/or rights to use as3ée consensus, which was modified in
May 2003 to clarify the scope of EITF @1-and its interaction with other authoritativelddture, is applicable to arrangements enteredan
reporting periods beginning after June 15, 200& adhoption of this standard did not have any effecbur consolidated financial statements.

In November 2002, the Financial Accountingristards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No."@dlarantor's Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Includityéct Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” @AN FIN 45 elaborates on the existing
disclosure requirements for most guarantees, imuuldan guarantees such as standby letters oftchiealso clarifies that at the time a
company issues a guarantee, the company must igeagminitial liability for the fair value, or miet value, of the obligations it assumes
under that guarantee and must disclose that infiwman its interim and annual financial statemefi 45 is effective on a prospective bi
to guarantees issued or modified after Decembe2@12. The requirements of FIN 45 are effectivefifmancial statements of interim or
annual periods ending after December 15, 2002 atloption of this standard did not have a matemiglact on our consolidated financial
statements.

In December 2002, the Financial Accountingngiards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Finaddebunting Standards No. 148,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Traositaind Disclosure” (SFAS 148). SFAS 148 amends SEZS “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation”, to provide alternative mettoddsansition for a voluntary change to the fatue based method of accounting for
stockbased employee compensation. SFAS 148 also ameadisstlosure requirements of SFAS 123 to requivenment disclosures in bo
annual and interim financial statements of the methf accounting for stock-based compensation haceffect of the method used on
reported results. SFAS 148’s amendment for thesiian and annual disclosure requirements is affedor fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2002. SFAS 148 mendment of the disclosure requirements istaféefor interim periods beginning after Decemb&r 2002
We adopted SFAS 148 in the quarter ended MarcR®13.

In January 2003, the Financial Accountingh8tads Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. S5rfsolidation of Variable Interest
Entities” (FIN 46), which clarifies the applicatiai Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “ConsolethFinancial Statements.” FIN 46
requires the consolidation of variable interesitistin which an enterprise absorbs a majoritthefentity’s expected losses, receives a
majority of the entity’s expected residual returmsboth, as a result of ownership, contractuatber financial interests in the entity.
Currently, entities are generally consolidated byeaterprise that has a controlling financial iagtthrough ownership of a majority voting
interest in the entity. FIN 46 is effective immeig for variable interest entities created aftamuary 31, 2003. For variable interest entitie
which an enterprise holds a variable interestitratquired before February 1, 2003, FIN 46 apphese first fiscal year or interim period
beginning after December 15, 2003. We do not exihecissuance of FIN 46 to have a material impaatur consolidated financial
statements.

In May 2003, the Financial Accounting StamttaBoard (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Aotiog Standards No. 150,
“Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments witharacteristics of both Liabilities and Equity” (8% 150). SFAS 150 establishes
standards for classifying and measuring as liadilitertain financial instruments that embody dilans of the issuer and have characteri
of both liabilities and equity. SFAS 150 is effeetifor all financial instruments created or modifefter May 31, 2003, and otherwise is
effective at the beginning of the first interim jper beginning after June 15, 2003. We adopted SFP2®in the quarter ended June 30, 2003,
which resulted in no impact on our consolidatedficial statements.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of our financial instrurteeapproximates fair value due either to lengtmafurity or existence of interest rates that
approximate prevailing market rates unless othendisclosed in these financial statements.

Use of Estimates and Assumptio

The preparation of financial statements infoomity with accounting principles generally act=pin the United States requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities and discsiicontingent assets and liabilities at
date of the consolidated financial statements haddported amounts of revenue and expenses dhgngporting periods. The estimates

made by us in the accompanying consolidated fimdustatements relate to valuation allowances, vianaf goodwill and intangible assets,
and valuation of long-lived assets. Actual resattsld differ from those estimates.

4. Accounts Receivable

Trade receivables consist primarily of reabies from financial institutions, which providenfling for customer boat financing, and
amounts due from financial institutions earned frmmanging financing with our customers. Theseivatees are normally collected within
30 days of the sale. Trade receivables also incindeunts due from customers on the sale of boatts,@nd service. Amounts due from

manufacturers represent receivables for variousufaaturer programs and parts and service work padd pursuant to the manufacturers’
warranties.

The allowance for uncollectible receivablehjch was not material to the consolidated finalhstiatements taken as a whole as of
September 30, 2002 or 2003, is based on our caoasiole of customer payment practices, past traiabistory with customers, and

economic conditions. We review the allowance fazallectible receivables when a future event or otiange in circumstances results in a
change in the estimate of the ultimate collectipitif a specific account.

The accounts receivable balances consistdtedbllowing as of September 30, 2002 and 2003:

2002 2003
(Amounts in thousands)
Trade receivable $ 9,03¢ $14,45:
Amounts due from manufacture 4,59( 6,23¢
Other receivable 642 1,07(¢
$14,26¢ $21,75°
[ | [ |

5. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following asSefptember 30, 2002 and 2003:

2002 2003
(Amounts in thousands)
New boats, motors and traile $137,92- $134,20(
Used boats, motors and trailt 21,98( 26,66
Parts, accessories and ot 4,217 4,521
$164,12: $165,38:
| |
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6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the fatig as of September 30, 2002 and 2003:

2002 2003

(Amounts in thousands)

Land $ 19,76 $22,17¢
Buildings and improvemen 40,12: 43,30:
Machinery and equipme 10,631 15,08:
Furniture and fixture 7,271 8,65¢
Vehicles 3,37: 3,81«

81,17 93,027
Less— Accumulated depreciatic (17,159 (21,129

$ 64,01¢ $ 71,89¢

7. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Stadsl®8oard (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Aoting Standards No. 141, “Business
Combinations” (SFAS 141), and Statement of Findetaounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Oth@angible Assets” (SFAS 142).
SFAS 141 requires business combinations initiatet dune 30, 2001 to be accounted for using tliehmse method of accounting and that
identifiable intangible assets acquired in a bussrmmbination be recognized as assets and repapedately from goodwill. We have
determined that our only identifiable intangiblsets are dealer agreements, which are indefinviggtintangibles. SFAS 142 requires that
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assetslonger be amortized, but instead tested for impantat least annually.

SFAS 142 was effective for fiscal years bagig after December 15, 2001, with early applicapermitted in certain circumstances. We
elected to early adopt SFAS 142 in fiscal 2002. SBHA?2 required the completion of a transitionalamment test within six months from the
date of initial adoption of the statement. In aidditto the initial assessment, we assess the impgair of identifiable intangible assets and
goodwill at least annually or whenever events @ngfes in circumstances indicate that the carryalgevmay not be recoverable. If the
carrying amount of an identifiable intangible assegjoodwill exceeds its fair value, we would regizg an impairment loss. We measure any
potential impairment based on various businessatian methodologies, including a projected discedrdash flow method. We completed
the transitional impairment test, which resultec@nimpairment of goodwill or identifiable intand¢gbassets. We have also completed the
annual impairment test at June 30, 2003, whichltesin no impairment of goodwill or identifiablatangible assets. To date, we have not
recognized any impairment of goodwill or identifi@alintangible assets in connection with SFAS 142. WMl continue to test goodwill and
identifiable intangible assets for impairment asteannually on June 30, or whenever events orggsain circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. Prior toatieption of SFAS 142, all purchase price in exoéske net tangible assets was recorded
as goodwill and no identifiable intangible asse¢sewecognized.
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The changes in the carrying amounts of ifiabie intangible assets and net goodwill, baseduminitial valuations, for the fiscal years
ended September 30, 2002 and 2003, were as follows:

Dealer
Agreement
Intangibles Goodwill

(Amounts in thousands)

Balance, September 30, 20 $ — $39,99:
Additions through acquisitions during the per 3,27¢ 6,321
Balance, September 30, 20 $3,27¢ $46,31:
Additions through acquisitions during the per 1,22¢ 2,32¢
Balance, September 30, 2C $4,50¢ $48,63¢
| |

The following presents the reduction of goddamortization, net of related tax effects, doehe adoption of SFAS 142 in fiscal 2002 on
the results of operations for the fiscal year enSlegtember 30, 2001 (amounts in thousands excap slata and earnings per share):

Net income as reporte $  15,34¢
Goodwill amortization adjusted for income ta 69¢
Adjusted net incom $  16,04¢

|

Diluted earnings per shar

Net income per common she $ 1.01
Goodwill amortizatior .04
Adjusted net income per common sh $ 1.0
.|
Weighted average common shares outstan 15,238,71
|
Basic earnings per shal
Net income per common she $ 1.01
Goodwill amortizatior 04
Adjusted net income per common sh $ 1.0t
.|
Weighted average common shares outstan 15,220,32

8. Short-Term Borrowings

In December 2001, we entered into a revoleirgglit facility with four finance institutions thprovides us a line of credit with asset-based
borrowing availability of up to $220 million. Thadility also allows us $20 million in traditiondbbrplan borrowings. The facility has a
three-year term, with two one-year renewal opti@sing November 2002, we exercised one of thedne-year renewal options, which the
bank approved, extending the maturity date to Déegr005. The facility accrues interest at a rdted BOR plus 175 to 260 basis points,
which is determined in accordance with a perfornegmricing grid, as defined in the credit faciliBorrowings under the facility are pursuant
to a borrowing base formula and are used priméoilyvorking capital and inventory financing. Theifdy requires us to maintain certain
financial covenants, including a tangible net wagtio, among other restrictions. As of Septemiter2B03, we were in compliance with all
of the financial covenants.

Short-term borrowings as of September 3022061 2003 were $95.0 million and $97.0 milliorspectively. The additional available
borrowings under the Facilities at September 30320ere approxi-
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mately $72.9 million. At September 30, 2003, theriest rate on the outstanding borrowings was 2@éterally, our short-term borrowings
are collateralized by certain accounts receivabtkiaventories.

As is common in our industry, we receive interestistance directly from boat manufacturers, inclgdrunswick. The interest assista
programs vary by manufacturer and generally inclpgigods of free financing or reduced interest patsgrams. The interest assistance may
be paid directly to us or our lender dependingh@narrangements the manufacturer has establisheddépted EITF 026 during the quart
ended December 31, 2002, which most significamtyuires us to classify interest assistance recdio@t manufacturers as a reduction of
inventory cost and related cost of sales as opptmsedtting the assistance against our interestresgincurred with our lenders. See
Note 3— “Significant Accounting Policies — New Accountifyonouncements” for further discussion of the &idopof this standard.

9. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the followingsSeptember 30, 2002 and 2003:

2002 2003

(Amounts in thousands)

Various mortgage notes payable to financial instins, due in monthly

installments ranging from $3,500 to $59,700, bepniterest at rates rangin:

from 3.06% to 7.75%, maturing February 2006 throDglesember 2012,

collateralized by machinery and equipm $21,46° $22,32:
Various mortgage notes payable to financial instis, due in monthly

installments ranging from $1,000 to $2,200, beaiegrest at a rates ranging

from 7.90% to 9.79%, maturing June 2006 throughdd&010, collateralized

by certain vehicles and machinery and equipr 29¢ 22
21,76¢ 22,34:

Less— Current maturitie: (1,909 (2,344
$19,85’ $19,99¢

| I

The aggregate maturities of long-term delreves follows at September 30, 2003:

Year Ending September 30, Amount

2004 $ 2,344
2005 2,45:
2006 2,561
2007 2,57¢
2008 2,50¢
Thereafte 9,891
Total $22,34:
|
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2003:
2001 2002 2003
(Amounts in thousands)
Current provision

Federa $7,73i $ 8,24  $10,07¢
State 77¢ 87C 1,24¢
Total current provisiol 8,51¢ 9,11z 11,32(

Deferred provision
Federa $ 99z $1427 $ 91C
State 99 14z 91
Total deferred provisio 1,092 1,57C 1,001
Total income tax provisio $9,60¢ $10,68:  $12,32:
I | |

Below is a reconciliation of the statutorgdéeal income tax rate to our effective tax ratetfar fiscal years ended September 30, 2001,
2002, and 2003:

2001 2002 2003
Federal tax provisio 35.% 35.(% 35.(%
State tax provision, net of federal ben 3.C% 3.2% 3.5%
Other 0.5% 0.2% 0.C%
Effective tax rate 38.5% 38.5%  38.f%
| | |

Deferred income taxes reflect the impaceaiporary differences between the amount of asselt$iabilities recognized for financial
reporting purposes and such amounts recognizéddome tax purposes. The components of deferrexbtag of September 30, 2002 and
2003, were as follows:

2002 2003

(Amounts in thousands)
Current deferred tax assets (liabilitie

Inventories $ (707) $ (39
Accrued expense 632 1,36:
Other 282 20z
Net current deferred tax assets (liabiliti $ 21z $ 1,52¢
L] L]
Long-term deferred tax assets (liabilitie

Depreciation and amortizatic $(4,759) $(7,067)
Other 26¢ 26€
Net lonc-term deferred tax liabilitie $(4,485) $(6,807)
] ]

As of September 30, 2003, we estimated thatnore likely than not that we will recognizeethenefit of our deferred tax assets and,
accordingly, no valuation allowance has been resard
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11. Stockholders’ Equity

In November 2000, our Board of Directors amed a share repurchase plan allowing our compamgpurchase up to 300,000 shares of
our common stock. Under the plan, we may buy backmon stock from time to time in the open markenhqgrivately negotiated blocks,
dependant upon various factors, including price aradlability of the shares, and general market@ans. As of September 30, 2003, we
purchased an aggregate of 96,413 shares of comtmchunder the plan for an aggregate purchase pfi$€35,000. As of September 30,
2003, 89,611 and 6,802 of those repurchased shawvesbeen reissued in conjunction with our Empld&eek Purchase Plan and our
Incentive Stock Plan.

12.  Stock Option and Purchase Plans
On April 5, 1998 and April 30, 1998, respectivelye Board of Directors adopted and the stockholdppsoved the following stock plar

1998 Incentive Stock Plan (the Incentive Stock PlaThe Incentive Stock Plan provides for the granhoéntive and non-qualified
stock options to acquire our common stock, thetgsghnommon stock, the grant of stock appreciatights, and the grant of other cash
awards to key personnel, directors, consultantiepgendent contractors, and others providing vatusdivices to us. A maximum of the les
of 4,000,000 shares or 20% of the then outstanshiages of our common stock may be issued undéntleative Stock Plan. The Incentive
Stock Plan terminates in April 2008, and optiony e granted at any time during the life of theelmiive Stock Plan. The date on which
options vest and the exercise prices of optionslatermined by the Board of Directors or the Plaim#istrator.

The Incentive Stock Plan also includes arofatic Grant Program providing for the automatiemgrof options (Automatic Options) to
our non-employee directors.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the Stock Purchas® P+The Stock Purchase Plan provides for up to 500sb@des of common stock
to be issued, and is available to all our regufapleyees who have completed at least one yearrdimumus service.

The Stock Purchase Plan provides for implaatem of up to 10 annual offerings beginning oa tinst day of October in the years 1998
through 2007, with each offering terminating on t8egber 30 of the following year. Each annual offgnnay be divided into two six-month
offerings. For each offering, the purchase pricegbare will be the lower of (i) 85% of the closipdce of the common stock on the first day
of the offering or (ii) 85% of the closing price thfe common stock on the last day of the offerirtge purchase price is paid through periodic
payroll deductions not to exceed 10% of the paréiot’s earnings during each offering period. Howeke participant may purchase more
than $25,000 worth of common stock annually.

The fair value of each option grant has bestimated as of the date of grant using the Blathoels option-pricing model with the
following weighted average assumptions for thedligears ended September 30, 2001, 2002, and 2003:

2001 2002 2003
Risk-free interest rat 4.0% 5.4% 5.1%
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Expected life 7.6 year 5.4 year 5.4 year

Volatility 43.6% 38.8% 40.7%

Using these assumptions, the fair value efstiock options granted as of September 30, 2@IR, 2nd 2003 was approximately
$7.4 million, $7.5 million, and $11.5 million, resgtively, which would be amortized as compensagiqmense over the vesting period of the
options.
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A summary of the status of our stock optitanp for the fiscal years ended September 30, 20012, and 2003, was as follows:

2001 2002 2003
Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price Optits Exercise Price
Outstanding beginning of ye 2,273,53! $11.0¢ 2,273,20! $10.8¢ 2,378,36! $10.5¢
Granted 327,77. $ 8.71 356,16( $ 8.84 395,80 $ 9.9¢
Exercisec — $ — (3,857 $12.5( (52,705 $11.8¢
Forfeited (328,10;) $10.9¢ (247,15 $10.6¢ (394,872 $11.2¢
Outstanding end of ye 2,273,20! $10.8¢ 2,378,36! $10.5¢ 2,326,58! $10.3(
| | |

The following table summarizes informatioroaboutstanding and exercisable stock options pteB&er 30, 2003:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable
Weighted-Average

Remaining Weighted- Weighted-
Contractual Life in Average Exercise Average Exerce
Range of Exercise Prices Options Years Price Optian Price

$7.00-9.00 930,67t 7.9 $ 8.2¢ 78,44« $ 7.94
$9.01-11.00 444,01( 6.2 $ 9.74 144,20: $ 9.8¢
$11.01-13.00 888,46. 5.0 $12.4: 511,31 $12.4:
$13.01- 15.00 63,44( 9.3 $13.9¢ 3,64( $13.7¢
2,326,58! 6.5 $10.3( 737,60: $11.4¢

— —

Generally, the options granted have a teritOofears from the grant date and vest 20% perrarbaginning at the end of year three.

Also outstanding at September 30, 2003, wergants issued in conjunction with the fiscal 18¥ating World acquisition. The warrants
provide the holder the right to buy 40,000 shafesuo common stock at $15.00 per share.

13. Net Income Per Share

The following is a reconciliation of the skarsed in the denominator for calculating basitdiluted earnings per share for the fiscal
years ended September 30, 2001, 2002, and :

2001 2002 2003
Weighted average common shares outstanding used in
calculating basic earnings per sh 15,220,32 15,270,82 15,337,87
Effect of dilutive option: 18,391 270,14¢ 333,59
Weighted average common and common equivalent shigex
in calculating diluted earnings per sh 15,238,71 15,540,97 15,671,47
| |

Options to purchase 1,757,048, 1,136,201 8&0005 shares of common stock were outstandiing @eptember 30, 2001, 2002, and
2003, respectively, but were not included in thepatation of diluted earnings per share becausefitiens’ exercise prices were greater
than the average market price of our common stock.
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14. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitment

We lease certain land, buildings, machineqguipment, and vehicles related to our dealerslniper non-cancelable third-party operating
leases. Rental payments, including month-to-moeritals, were approximately $6.2 million, $6.5 roitlj and $7.2 million for the fiscal years
ended September 30, 2001, 2002, and 2003, resplgctRental payments to related parties under batitelable and non-cancelable
operating leases approximated $800,000 and $36Tod@0e fiscal years ended September 30, 20012808, respectively. There were no
rental payments to related parties for the fisegryended September 30, 2002.

The rental payments to related parties, ubdér cancelable and non-cancelable operatingdehging fiscal 2003, represent rental
payments for buildings to an entity partially owrigdan officer of our company. We believe the teohthe transaction are consistent with
those that we could obtain from third parties.

Future minimum lease payments under non-dablecoperating leases at September 30, 2003, agcialows:

Year Ending
September 30, Amount
2004 $ 5,92¢
2005 4,28
2006 3,667
2007 3,421
2008 2,531
Thereatftel 1,14z
Total $20,97:

Other Commitments and Contingencies

We are party to various legal actions arismthe ordinary course of business. The ultimeteility, if any, associated with these matters
was not determinable at September 30, 2003. Whieniot feasible to determine the outcome of thed®ns at this time, we do not believe
that these matters will have a material adversecetin our consolidated financial condition, resolt operations, or cash flows.

We are subject to federal and state enviraniaheegulations, including rules relating to aidawvater pollution and the storage and
disposal of gasoline, oil, other chemicals and aiaéte believe that we are in compliance with segulations.

15. Employee 401(k) Profit Sharing Plans

Effective January 1, 2001, we amended tharddtax, Inc. 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (the PlaBnployees are eligible to participate in
the Plan following their 90-day introductory perist@rting either April 1 or October 1, providedttti@y are 21 years of age. Under the Plan,
we match 50% of participants’ contributions, subjeca maximum of 5% of each participants’ compé&nsaWe contributed, under the Plan,
or pursuant to previous similar plans, amountsiranffom approximately $700,000 to approximatel@$®00 for the fiscal years ended
September 30, 2001, 2002, and 2003.

16. Preferred Share Purchase Rights

During September 2001, we adopted a StockngldRights Plan (the Rights Plan) that may haeeettfiect of deterring, delaying, or
preventing a change in control that might othentisen the best interests of
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our stockholders. Under the Rights Plan, a divideihohe Preferred Share Purchase Right was issuieh€h share of common stock held by
the stockholders of record as of the close of lassiron September 7, 2001. Each right entitles Btdd&rs to purchase, at an exercise price of
$50 per share, one-thousandth of a share of a maedted Series A Junior Participating PreferrediSt

In general, subject to certain limited ex¢mm, the stock purchase rights become exerciselidd® a person or group acquires 15% or
more of our common stock or a tender offer or ergeaoffer for 15% or more of our common stock is@mced or commenced. After any
such event, other stockholders may purchase additahares of our common stock at 50% of the therent market price. The rights will
cause substantial dilution to a person or groupatiampts to acquire us on terms not approvedupyBoard of Directors. The rights should
not interfere with any merger or other businesshiaation approved by the Board of Directors. Thyts may be redeemed by us at $0.01
per stock purchase right at any time before anggreor group acquires 15% or more of the outstandirmmmon stock. The rights expire on
August 28, 2011.

The Rights Plan adoption and Rights Distiuis a non-taxable event with no impact on onaficial results.
17. Subsequent Events

Subsequent to our fiscal year end, we wepeiaped the exclusive dealer for Itahgsed Ferretti Group for Ferretti Yachts, Pershitiga,
Apreamare, Mochi Craft, Custome Line, and CRN mthnited States, Canada, and the Bahamas, andwedheright to become the
exclusive dealer in Mexico and the Caribbean. Vge alere appointed the exclusive dealer for Berirathe United States (excluding the
Florida peninsula and certain portions of New End)aCanada, and the Bahamas, and we have thaaigetome the exclusive dealer in
Mexico and certain areas of the Caribbean. Theethiear dealer agreement, which can be extendeddtubijits terms, appoints us as the
exclusive dealer for the retail sale, display, aedvicing of designated Ferretti Group and Bertproducts and repair parts currently or in the
future sold by Ferretti Group and Bertram in theigeated geographic areas.

Simultaneous with the exclusive dealer apjpoémts, we acquired our 66th retail location. Weuared substantially all of the assets and
assumed certain liabilities of Emarine Internatiph&. and Steven Myers, Inc., a privately heldbdealership located in Fort Lauderdale,
Florida, for approximately $105,000 in cash. Theuasition was accounted for under the purchase odett accounting, which resulted in -
recognition of approximately $300,000 in goodwiilicluding acquisition costs. The acquisition prasdis with an established retail location,
which sells Ferretti Group and Bertram productthan Southeast Florida boating community. The gasethase agreement contains an earn
out provision, which will impact the final purchaggce annually, based on the future profits ofltation, assuming certain conditions and
provisions are met.
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33 Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Rapiating Preferred Stock(
4.1 Specimen of Common Stock Certificate
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Agent(3)
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Cochrans Acquisition Corp. (a subsidiary of Marirei/linc.), Cochrans Marine, Inc. and the Stockhsldemed
therein(2)

10.1() Asset Purchase Agreement between Registrant ascdne Cove Marina, Inc.(

10.2(a) Contribution Agreement between Registrant and BaBsat Company and its owner(

10.2(b) Contribution Agreement between Registrant and BaRssalty, L.L.C. and its owner(:
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10.2(e) Contribution Agreement between Registrant and dar's Realty California, L.L.C. and its owners

10.3(e) Employment Agreement between Registrant and Daviddchran(4

10.3(f) Employment Agreement between Registrant and WillianMcGill Jr.(9)

10.3(g) Employment Agreement between Registrant and MicHadcLamb(9)
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231 Consent of Ernst & Young LL

23.2 Notice regarding consent of Arthur Andersen L

311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 13d{a), promulgated under the Securi
Exchange Act of 1934, as amend

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgatettuthe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amend

321 Certification pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350, dgpded pursuant to Section 906 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002
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(4)
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(7)
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Incorporated by reference to Registration Staterorriiorm -1 (Registration 33-47873).

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Current Report on Forn-K dated July 7, 1998, as filed on July 20, 1¢

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form K Report dated September 30, 1998, as filed onl2ctd0, 1998

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-K for the year ended September 30, 1998, as fieD@cember 9, 199

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-K for the year ended September 30, 1999, as fieBecember 29 199
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Name Of Subsidiary

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
MARINEMAX, INC.
(as of December 23, 2003)

11502 Dumas, Inc

Bassett Boat Compatr

Bassett Realty, L.L.(

C & N Marine Realty, L.L.C
Delaware Avlease, LL(

Dumas GP, Inc

Dumas GP, L.L.C. (1

Gulfwind South Realty, L.L.(C
Harrisor's Realty California, L.L.C
Harrisor's Realty, L.L.C

Marina Drive Realty I, L.L.C

Marina Drive Realty Il, L.L.C
MarineMax International, LLC (G
MarineMax MidAtlantic, LP (2
MarineMax Motor Yachts, LLC (3
MarineMax New Jersey GP, Inc. (
MarineMax NJ Partners, Inc. (
MarineMax of Arizona, Inc
MarineMax of California, Inc
MarineMax of Central Florida, LLC (<
MarineMax of Georgia, Inc
MarineMax of Las Vegas, In
MarineMax of Minnesota, In¢
MarineMax of New Jersey Holdings, Ir
MarineMax of North Carolina, Inc
MarineMax of Ohio, Inc

MarineMax of Sarasota, LLC (.
MarineMax of Southeast Florida, LLC (

MarineMax of Southwest Florida, LLC (.

MarineMax of Utah, Inc
MarineMax Services, Inc. (¢

Exhibit 21

State Of Incorporation
Or Organization

Nevada
Florida
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Nevadas
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Arizona
California
Delaware
Georgia
Delaware
Minnesota
Delaware
North Caroling
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware




State Of Incorporation

Name Of Subsidiary Or Organization
MarineMax TX, L.P. (6 Texas
MarineMax U.S.A., Inc Nevads
MMX GP, LLC (7) Delaware
MMX Holdings, LLC (8) Delaware
MMX Interests, LLC (9) Delaware
MMX Member, Inc. (10 Delaware
MMX Partners, Inc Delaware
MMX Ventures, LP (11 Delaware
Newcoast Financial Services, It Delaware
Walker Marina Realty, L.L.C Delaware

(1) Wholly owned subsidiary of 11502 Dumas, |
(2) 99% owned by MarineMax NJ Partners, Inc. as limgadner and 1% owned by MarineMax New Jersey 6, &s general partne
(3) Wholly owned subsidiary of MMX Holdings, LL(
(4) Wholly owned subsidiary of MarineMax of New Jers¢gidings, Inc.
(5) Wholly owned subsidiary of MMX Partners, Ir
(6) 99% owned by 11502 Dumas, Inc. as limited partnerE%6 owned by Dumas GP, L.L.C. as general par
(7) 99% owned by MMX Partners, Inc. and 1% owned by MMEmber, Inc
(8) 99% owned by MMX Interests, LLC and 1% owned by MN&R, LLC.
(9) 99% owned by MMX Ventures, LP and 1% owned by MMR,&LC.
(10) Wholly owned subsidiary of MMX Partners, Ir

(11) 99% owned by MMX Partners, Inc. as limited partaed 1% owned by MMX GP, LLC as general part



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-8 No. 333-83382ming to the 1998 Incentive Stock
Plan of MarineMax, Inc. and (Form S-8 No. 333-63308rtaining to the 1998 Incentive Stock Plan dre1998 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan of MarineMax, Inc. of our report dated Octobéy 2003, with respect to the consolidated finalnstiatements of MarineMax, Inc.
included in the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for theay ended September 30, 2003.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Tampa, Florida
December 29, 2003



Exhibit 23.2
NOTICE REGARDING CONSENT OF ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Section 11(a) of the Securities Act 083®rovides that if any part of a registrationeta¢nt, when such part became effective,
contained an untrue statement of a material faaipotted to state a material fact required to fa¢esl therein or necessary to make the
statements therein not misleading, any person Engla security pursuant to such registration stetg (unless it is proved that at the time of
such acquisition such person knew of such untrottmdssion) may sue, among others, every accoumtaathas consented to be named as
having prepared or certified any part of the regigin statement, with respect to the statemestigh registration statement, report, or
valuation, which purports to have been preparezkdified by the accountant.

On June 3, 2002, MarineMax, Inc. (the fiany”) dismissed Arthur Andersen LLP (“Andersea$)its independent auditor and
appointed Ernst & Young LLP to replace Andersemmp the date of filing this Form 10-K, Anderseeased operations. As a result, after
reasonable efforts, the Company has been unablet&in Andersen’s written consent to the incorgoraby reference of Andersen’s audit
report dated October 18, 2001 appearing in the @Goryip Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended Septen3®12001 into our Registration
Statements (Reg. Nos. 333-63307, 333-69911, 3338B583-30094, and 333-83332). Such audit repantisided in this Form 10-K.

Under these circumstances, Rule 437aruhdeSecurities Act of 1933 permits the Companfjlécthis Form 10-K, which is
incorporated by reference into the above listedsteggion statements, without a written consentfildndersen. However, as a result,
Andersen will not have any liability under Sectibh(a) of the Securities Act for any untrue statetmeh a material fact contained in the
financial statements audited by Andersen or anyssimins of a material fact required to be statecetheAccordingly, you would be unable
assert a claim against Andersen under Section bi(ag Securities Act. The Company believes, hawgthat other persons who are liable
under Section 11(a) of the Securities Act, inclgdine officers and directors of the Company, mdlrsty on Andersen’s audit reports as
being made by an expert under the due diligencendefprovision of Section 11(b) of the Securities Ahe law in this area remains
unsettled, however, and no assurance can be diaem tourt will find such reliance to be justified



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
[, William H. McGill Jr., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&f¥K of MarineMax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statetsy and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat, and cash flows of the registrant as of, amdthe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officerdal are responsible for establishing and maintgjrdisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and plwes, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissadisclosure controls and procedures and predantthis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgatures as of the end of the period covered kyréipiort based on such evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change inrégistrant’s internal control over financial repogt that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fotigbal quarter in the case of an annual repog) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intel control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officardal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiafuof internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and materia@¢aknesses in the design or operation of internarabover financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigfsaability to record, process, summarize, and refaioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatatves management or other employees who havendisaqt role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s WILLIAM H. MCGILL, JR.

William H. McGill Jr.
Chief Executive Office

Date: December 29, 20(



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
[, Michael H. McLamb, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-KMarineMax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual repogsdchot contain any untrue statement of a mat@calbr omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in lighedfircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statetsy and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat, and cash flows of the registrant as of, amdthe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officerdal are responsible for establishing and maintgjrdisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and phwes, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissadisclosure controls and procedures and predantthis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgatures as of the end of the period covered kyréipiort based on such evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change inreigistrant’s internal control over financial repiogt that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fotdigbal quarter in the case of an annual repos) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intel control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officardal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiafuof internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and materia@daknesses in the design or operation of internarabover financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigfsaability to record, process, summarize, and refaisancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatatves management or other employees who havendisaqt role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl MICHAEL H. MCLAMB

Michael H. McLamk
Chief Financial Officel

Date: December 29, 20(



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on ForfaKL of MarineMax, Inc. (the “Company”) for the figktyear ended September 30, 2003, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiothe date hereof (the “Report”), I, William H. Mii@r., Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, to my best knowledge and bepefsuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursad&hp06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a)
780(d)); anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly gmets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of the
Company

/s/ WILLIAM H. MCGILL JR.

William H. McGill Jr.
Chief Executive Office

December 29, 200



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on ForfaKL of MarineMax, Inc. (the “Company”) for the figktyear ended September 30, 2003, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioithe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael H. Mohb, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, to my best knowledge and bepefsuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursad&hp06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a)
780(d)); anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly gmets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of the
Company

/sl MICHAEL H. MCLAMB

Michael H. McLamk
Chief Financial Officel

December 29, 200
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